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Our name, our
people, our region
Our full name, Danila Dilba Biluru Butji
Binnilutlum, was given by the Larrakia
people, the traditional owners of the land
where Darwin and Palmerston are situated.
In the Larrakia language, Danila Dilba means
‘dilly bag used to collect bush medicines’
and Biluru Butji Binnilutlum means
‘blackfella (Aboriginal people) getting
better from sickness’.
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people
from around Australia have visited Larrakia
country for generations. Some of the
visitors stayed and we are now blessed
with a rich cultural diversity.
When we describe ourselves in the
Annual Report, we use the words Biluru,
Aboriginal, Torres Strait Islander and
Indigenous.

Our logo

Our Vision
That Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander peoples’
health, well-being and quality of
life equals that of non-Indigenous
Australians.

Our Purpose
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The story of the logo is:
the fish being in a school are excited
when jumping around and convey to us
our exciting, healthy life. The turtle going
back to lay her eggs represents the people.
The stick represents a hunting tool on
how to find her eggs. The overall circle is
like looking inside a dilly bag from above.
The snake brings the threat of danger
to our wellbeing and reminds us that we
should always sustain ourselves and be
on guard for our health.
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Our purpose is to improve
the physical, mental, spiritual,
cultural and social wellbeing of
the Biluru community in the
Yilli Rreung (Greater Darwin)
area.
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Our Values
• Respect

Our logo was designed by Larrakia
elder Reverend Wally Fejo.
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Introduction

Our work is based on principles
of equity, access, empowerment,
self-determination and
collaboration.
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Chairperson’s report
I would firstly like to acknowledge the great work that continues
to be done by the staff at Danila Dilba. As we continue to work
to build the organisational capability and capacity of Danila
Dilba it is heartening to look back on the contribution so many
have already made to this organisation.

providing a program of professional development to the board
and committee members. This includes membership of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors (AICD) and attendance at courses run
by the AICD and other relevant organisations.

2018-19 has seen the passing of several long-term clients and members
of the organisation and I want to acknowledge their contribution. I would
like to extend our condolences to their families and friends.

There remains a level of unmet need for Danila Dilba services.
The Palmerston area is experiencing rapid population growth.
The current clinic is often stretched to meet the need and services
need to continue to grow. Danila Dilba gains an average of approximately
1,700 new clients per year and we will be exploring opportunities to
establish an additional clinic in the Palmerston area. Danila Dilba has
largely been self-funded in establishing new clinics but continues to
look for opportunities to obtain capital funding for infrastructure.

Members of our organisation have made an enormous contribution to
Danila Dilba over the years and we’re grateful and thank you for your
commitment.
Governance and the board

The future

The focus of the board of directors is on high-level oversight of the
organisation’s governance and providing a strategic approach to business
and risk. In 2018-19, the board endorsed a program for evaluation
and training facilitated by VUCA, a specialist advisory firm that helps
organisations deal successfully with critical challenges. Their work with
us included a board performance evaluation, a behavioural survey and
governance training on contemporary board issues. The evaluation found
that in the majority of areas, the performance of the Board is considered
to be ‘good’ to ‘very good’, and that the board has a diverse skillset and
performs in a professional, cohesive and collaborative manner. A board
workshop held on 28 June considered long-term strategic planning.

We also aim to continue to expand, enhance and strengthen Danila
Dilba’s services in the next 12 months, for example by opening a clinic
in Don Dale Youth Detention Centre, working to establish a clinic at
Humpty Doo, and further developing services by partnering with
other organisations.

During 2018-19, our independent director, David Pugh, and Wayne
Kurnoth, our Larrakia director, both resigned. On behalf of the board and
staff I thank these former board members for their commitment and
service to Danila Dilba. Timmy Duggan was reappointed to the Board to
fill a casual director vacancy caused by the appointment of Nicole Hucks
as Deputy Chair.

So that our workforce has the right qualifications, skills and supervision
to provide safe, high-quality health care to clients, Danila Dilba is
developing a Cultural Safety and Competency Framework which will
integrate cultural mentoring. The framework will provide in-house
cultural induction and ongoing training specific to Danila Dilba clients
and staff, including individual mentoring.

I and other directors have been active in reviewing and contributing to
constitutional changes proposed for the National Aboriginal Community
Controlled Health Organisation (NACCHO), the national peak body
representing Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services (ACCHSs)
across the country. I also continue as a member of the DDHS Audit and Risk
Management Committee which provides assurance and advice
to the board.

In conclusion, I note that this year’s report shows a record of
achievement and continuous effort to improve the quality of our
services and strengthen our organisation.

To develop our governance capabilities, including knowledge and
understanding of key factors affecting identifying, managing and mitigating
risk, we will continue to develop individuals and governance groups by
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The development of these services works towards our vision that
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people’s health, well-being and
quality of life will equal that of non-Indigenous Australians. Integral
to this vision are the principles of equity, access, empowerment, selfdetermination and collaboration. Development of our people is essential
to fulfilling the principles of self-determination and empowerment.

I thank all my fellow directors and the staff for their contribution in 2018-19
and I look forward to working with you all further in the next year.

Mrs Carol Stanislaus
Director / Chairperson

Danila Dilba Health Service ANNUAL REPORT 2018–2019

page 3

Our board
Directors

Directors

Carol Stanislaus
(Chair)

Nicole Hucks (nee Butler)
(Deputy Chair)

Carol is a Tiwi woman, born
and raised on Larrakia country,
who has worked in a variety
of Indigenous positions in
tourism, local government and
justice throughout the NT and
WA, and currently works with
the Australian Government’s
National Indigenous Australians
Agency. She holds a Bachelor
of Applied Science in Aboriginal
Community Management
and Development. Carol
is a member of the DDHS
Audit and Risk Management
Committee, and the North
Australian Aboriginal Justice
Agency (NAAJA) and NT
Stolen Generation Aboriginal
Corporation (NTSGAC).

Nicole is a Larrakia/Wadjigan
and Eastern Arrernte Aboriginal
woman from the NT and
is currently the Assistant
Commissioner for Children in
the Office of the Children’s
Commissioner NT. Nicole holds
a Bachelor of Social Work
and has defined her career in
child and family welfare, with
experience in child protection,
care and protection research
and program and policy
development in Victoria and
the NT.
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Shannon Daly (nee Grant)

Timothy Duggan

Vanessa Harris

Malcolm Hauser

Shannon is employed by the
Top End Health Service as
the Consumer and Cultural
Consultant at Royal Darwin
Hospital. Shannon has 13
years active experience as an
Aboriginal Health Practitioner
(AHP) (previously Aboriginal
Health Worker) and has been
an AHP educator and AHP
lecturer. Shannon completed
her AHP training through
Danila Dilba in 2001. Shannon
is passionate about the AHP
role which is vital to providing
culturally safe and competent
care to Aboriginal people.

Timmy is the Healthy Living
Manager at the NT Division of
the National Heart Foundation.
Timmy has had a varied career,
starting as a professional
basketball player with the
Cairns Taipans. He has worked
variously with the NT AIDS and
Hepatitis Council, the Council
for Aboriginal Alcohol Program
Services (CAAPS) and with
Indigenous youth with the
Malak Re-engagement Centre
and Diversity Dimensions.
He was the recipient of the
Top End NAIDOC Person of
the Year award in 2012 and
has many other awards and
achievements.

Vanessa is the Executive
Officer of the NT Mental
Health Coalition and has a
Bachelor of Health Science,
majoring in Management at
Flinders University. Vanessa
worked for the Commonwealth
Government, in the Office of
Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Health (OATSIH), the
Katherine West Health Board
and more recently with the
Lowitja Institute. Vanessa
is currently working on an
NHMRC-funded research
project with Flinders University
and is a member of the
Community Capability and the
Social Determinants of Health
Committee at the Lowitja
Institute.

Malcolm has worked with
the Northern Land Council
in minerals and energy for
the last three years. He has a
background in environmental
and resource management
and has also worked with the
Commonwealth Department of
Health on a Senate Inquiry into
the Hearing Health of Australia.
Malcolm was appointed to the
Audit and Risk Management
Committee of the board on 28
June 2019.
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Directors

Independent non-member directors

Wayne Kurnoth

Mark Munnich

Wayne is a Larrakia man from
the Fejo family group. He is
currently employed as the
Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander Union Organiser
for United Voice, supporting
members with workplace issues
and workers’ rights across
the NT. Previously, he worked
as a boiler maker/welder for
17 years in the shipbuilding,
construction, and oil and gas
industries.Wayne resigned from
the Board in April 2019.

Mark is a Gunggandji and Yawuru
man, born and raised in Darwin.
Mark holds a Bachelor of Laws
(LLB) and a Graduate Diploma
of Legal Practice, and has been
admitted to the Supreme Court
of the Northern Territory as
a lawyer. Mark is employed as
a lawyer and Coordinator of
Community Legal Education at
the North Australian Aboriginal
Family Legal Service (NAAFLS).

Directors appointed
until 2019 AGM
• Nicole Hucks (nee Butler)
Deputy Chairperson
• Vanessa Harris
• Mark Munnich
• Timmy Duggan

Directors appointed
until 2020 AGM
• Carol Stanislaus
Chairperson
• Wayne Kurnoth
Larrakia Officer (resigned)
• Malcolm Hauser
• Shannon Daly (nee Grant)
• David Pugh
Independent non-member
director, (resigned)

Since 2014, the Danila
Dilba constitution
has allowed for the
appointment of
non-member directors
who can bring special
expertise or experience
to add to the skills of
the elected directors,
such as community
development, health,
finance, law or
accounting. Nonmember directors are
independent and may
not have financial or
other interests in
Danila Dilba.

David Pugh

Bronwyn Rossingh

David is the CEO of NT
Anglicare and has a Masters
of Business degree. He was
previously CEO of St Luke’s
Anglicare in Bendigo,Victoria,
has held senior government
positions and has worked in
Milingimbi and Nhulunbuy.
David is a member of the
Anglicare Australia Board, the
APONT NGO Partnership
Steering Group and the
NT Government NGO
Consultative Committee. David
was a member of the DDHS
Audit and Risk Management
Committee. David resigned
from the Board in April 2019.

Bronwyn has been working
and living in the NT for over
20 years. She has travelled
extensively to towns, regions and
remote Aboriginal communities
across the NT and WA, working
in community engagement,
governance, financial
management, community
development, youth leadership,
and education and training
pathway development. Previously
she worked for chartered
accounting firms in Perth and
London for over ten years.
Bronwyn is an Independent
Director and a member of
the DDHS Audit and Risk
Management Committee.

• Bronwyn Rossingh
Independent non-member
director, (term expires
March 2021)
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2018–2019 at a glance
Deloitte
cost benefit
analysis 2019:
Regular
clients
7,915

New clients at
Danila Dilba clinics
2018/19

Palmerston/
Gumileybirra

488

TOTAL

Darwin
Clinic

462

3,811

394

290

55,712
TOTAL

$168,867.00
$138,816.48
$125,683.00

3,510

3,876

36,371

32,856

27,423

2016-17

25,185

22,856

$332,385

Total 1757
2016-17

2017-18

2018-19
2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

Pharmacy expenditure

18,592

9

114

Learning and development
expenditure growth chart

4,881
4,405

Men’s
Clinic

Bagot
Clinic

61,556

46,015

3,047

Rapid
Creek

8,757

6,858

Malak

‘every $1 invested
in Danila Dilba services
generated a $4 return
or benefit’

Episodes
of care

2017-18

$358,958

Prescriptions issued,
including prescriptions issued
under the Closing the Gap (CTG) program

2018-19

45066

Our staff

39108

I’m proud
to tell others
I work here
87%

My work
has special
meaning, this is
not “just a job”
84%

Male staﬀ
(as of June 2019)

Female staﬀ
(as of June 2019)

Total staﬀ
(as of June 2019)

I feel
I make a
difference
here
81%

I would
say this is
a great place
to work
78%

2017-18

33548
25470

CTG

31323

34102

27700

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

Completed health checks
73%
60%

57%

55

48%

61

TOTAL

2018-19

2015-16

76

Incoming staﬀ

Outgoing staﬀ

47836

Nonindigenous
staﬀ 53

Indigenous
staﬀ 96

127

56%
46%

0 – 4 years
2018-19

15 – 54 years
2018-19

55 plus years
2018-19

Closing the Gap national target for 2018-19

187

Staff total 149

(excluding GPs & GP registrars)

Average age – 42 years
Indigenous staﬀ:
87 in full time employment
10 in part time employment
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Introduction
Danila Dilba was established in 1991 to provide medical services
for Biluru (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people)
in the Yilli Rreung (greater Darwin) region.
Beginning with just one clinic and seven
staff, Danila Dilba now employs 187 staff
and operates seven clinics across our region,
delivering high quality, integrated health
services that include a range of specialist
and allied health, social and emotional
wellbeing services, and health promotion
and education. Our clinics are all managed
by senior Aboriginal staff.

Social determinants of health
The social determinants of health
are ‘the causes of the causes’ of
poor health.
These include living conditions, education
opportunities, employment, working
conditions and income, access to
transport and health care, and community
and social support. They create the
circumstances that contribute to health
risk factors that lead to poor health
outcomes.
The Australian Institute of Health and
Welfare reports that socio-economic
disadvantage contributes more than
one-third (34%) of the ‘health gap’
between Indigenous and non-Indigenous
Australians,1 and it may contribute
as much as half of the difference in
life expectancy.2
1

 ousehold income is the largest individual contributor
H
to the overall gap (14%), followed by employment
status (12%), Australian Institute of Health and Welfare,
Australia’s Health 2018, p.307

2

 eorges et al, “Progress in closing the gap in life
G
expectancy at birth for Aboriginal people in the Northern
Territory, 1967–2012” MJA 2017; 207 (1): 25-30

Why a community controlled
Aboriginal health service?
Danila Dilba is part of a national network of
community controlled Aboriginal primary
health care services that deliver more than
three million episodes of care every year.
Our vision is to see Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander peoples’ health, well-being
and quality of life achieve equality with that
of non-Indigenous Australians.

In this Annual Report…

Over the past five years, Danila Dilba has
worked to develop and refine a service
model that both meets our clients’ needs
and is a successful, sustainable business.
This process is ongoing as Danila Dilba
continues to grow and mature.

Section 1 reports on Danila Dilba’s work
in 2018-19 and our development as an
organisation. The focus this year has been
on continuous improvement and expansion
and Danila Dilba has invested in clinic
expansion and health education, staff
training and development, investment in
building management capability, internal
and external quality review and evaluation,
and investment in organisational systems
such as ICT infrastructure.

Our service design was adapted from the
Institute for Urban Indigenous Health (IUIH)
model in South East Queensland.
The key elements of our service model are:
• cultural safety
• services close to where people live

Despite improvements on some measures,
there are still huge disparities between
Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal peoples’
health in the Northern Territory, with
substantial gaps in life expectancy (1617 years) and a burden of disease for the
Aboriginal population that is nearly 3.6 times
the national average.3

• integrated services – a ‘one stop shop’

Aboriginal health services have an important
role to address health inequality. We make
quality health services available to our
communities, and deliver comprehensive
primary health care that is easy to access
and culturally respectful and safe. We
work to address the social determinants
of health – broader issues that affect our
people’s health – through evidence-based
research and public advocacy. We also
work to empower individuals, families and
communities to optimise their health.

• data collection – informs what we do
and how we do it.

Accessible health services are critical to
good health care. Our community controlled
primary health care service design is built
around treating the whole person and
providing a full range of health services close
to where our clients live.
3
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Danila Dilba’s service model

• permanent staff allocated to each clinic to
build team stability and improve continuity
of care for our clients
• social support and counselling services
• extended clinic hours
• ‘SQI’ – safety, quality improvement

Section 2 explains the client ‘journey’
and how integrated services meet client
needs and support their health across
the life course.
Section 3 reports on how Danila Dilba
contributes to advances in treatment and
Indigenous health research through health
research partnerships and works towards
addressing the social determinants of
health through partnerships with other
organisations and through sound, evidencebased policy research and public advocacy.

Section 4 provides Danila Dilba’s audited
‘Integrated services’ means working in
financial statements for the financial
inter-disciplinary teams and putting services
year 2018-19.
in one location where possible,
so we can meet all our
clients’ health needs
What is Comprehensive Primary Health Care?
in a culturally safe
Some core elements of Comprehensive Primary Health Care are:
environment. Within
(a) meeting people’s health needs through comprehensive and
each clinic, we aim
integrated health services throughout the life course, strategically
to offer Aboriginal
prioritising key health services for individuals and families, and
Health Practitioners
public health functions to improve overall health;
(AHPs), general practice
[GPs], specialist clinics,
(b) systematically addressing the broader determinants of health
antenatal and child
through evidence-informed public policies and actions; and
health, complex care
(c) empowering individuals, families, and communities to optimise
management and
their health, and advocating for policies that promote and
counselling services.
protect health and well-being.

Zhao et al, NT Burden of Disease Study, 2016 p.4
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1. ABOUT DANILA DILBA

1
Chief Executive Officer’s report

About

DANILA DILBA

Danila Dilba works in an increasingly complex and competitive
operating environment of constant change, workforce
challenges and rapidly evolving technology.
To thrive, we need to adapt new ways of thinking about what we do, how
we can better meet client needs and how we can be an organisation that
sets a gold standard in the Aboriginal community controlled health sector.
In 2018-19, Danila Dilba (DDHS) undertook a range of reviews of our work
and systems to continue to build our capacity to meet these challenges.
Internal and external reviews
This year we commissioned Deloitte Access Economics to update their
cost benefit analysis of 2016. It found the benefits costs ratio (BCR) is a
return of $4 for every $1 invested in Danila Dilba. The report found DDHS
received less funding per person in its target populations than similar
organisations. On average, comparator organisations received $2,664
per Indigenous person, while DDHS received $2,085. DDHS also receives
lower than average funding per staff member and less grant funds to
deliver episodes of care, while our costs of providing services are higher.
in March 2019, Beyond Technology conducted an independent review
of our ICT infrastructure and operations. The review found that while
Danila Dilba has grown rapidly in the past five years, our ICT had not
matured at the same rate. A key recommendation was to shift focus from
reactive responses to an approach that will support and enable core
functions of our business. A project implementation plan to roll out the
recommendations has commenced.

Danila Dilba
Health Service is
Greater Darwin’s only
Aboriginal communitycontrolled health
service.
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Global organisational consulting firm Korn Ferry was engaged to conduct
a performance review and advise on a new organisational structure
to support our growth in coming years and deliver on our strategic
priorities and aspirations. The new organisation structure will clarify roles,
accountabilities and reporting relationships, drive cost efficiencies and
support delivery of high quality services.
Funding
2018-19 saw substantial growth in additional funding, particularly for
Social and Emotional Well-Being (SEWB) services. Danila Dilba continued
to maximize Medicare income through a quality of service approach,
recognising that when better health care is provided Medicare income
will automatically flow.
However, Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations
(ACCHOs) are under-funded. We participated in a working group to
advocate for increased funding from the Commonwealth on a needsbased model that considers health status, socio-economic status and
the cost of doing business.

Danila Dilba Health Service ANNUAL REPORT 2018–2019
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Danila Dilba supports professional development and career opportunities for
all staff and also actively supports development of Indigenous staff as integral
to achieving our vision and purpose. In early 2019, Danila Dilba was awarded
the Australian Human Resources Institute Stan Grant Indigenous Employment
Award for achievements in our career pathways project. Our Indigenous
recruitment and retention strategy has achieved an Indigenous employment
rate of approximately 65 percent of our workforce (excluding GPs), and all
Clinic Managers and the majority of senior executives are Indigenous staff.
Advocacy
This year we continued to advocate for children and youth following the
Royal Commission into the Protection and Detention of Children in the
Northern Territory in 2017. Danila Dilba participates in the Children
and Families Tripartite Forum which promotes collaboration between
governments and the NGO sector, and monitors progress on the
implementation of the Royal Commission’s recommendations.
In 2018, I visited Diagrama youth detention centres in Spain to understand
why these achieve considerably lower reoffending rates than those in the NT.
Diagrama provides secure, therapeutic youth justice services to more than
37 centres in Spain, three in France, and services in the UK. Representatives
from Diagrama came to Darwin in late 2018 to meet with key government and
community representatives and we anticipate further engagement in 2019-20.
DDHS also participated in a joint objection to the granting of a Liquor Licence
to enable a Dan Murphy (‘big box’) outlet to open on Bagot Road on the basis
of public health and safety and proximity of the proposed outlet to
the communities of Bagot, Kulaluk and Minmarama Park.
Other advocacy activity related to housing and homeless and rough
sleepers, and DDHS was invited to make a submission to the current
Royal Commission on Aged Care Safety and Quality.
Services
As part of continuous service improvements,
• we are taking steps to obtain an additional bus with disabled access to
improve transport for frail, aged and disabled clients.
• DDHS and NT Legal Aid have established a formal partnership and
expanded legal services for our clients.
• Danila Dilba is a pilot site for Early Intervention and Family Support Services,
working with vulnerable families to help prevent them entering the child
protection system.
We look forward to working with clients, our members,
our community and staff in 2019-20 to continue to build
Danila Dilba as a sustainable organisation providing high
quality, culturally safe services.
Olga Havnen
Chief Executive Officer
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1. ABOUT DANILA DILBA

Executive Management Team

Our people

Olga Havnen
Chief Executive Officer
Olga is of Western Arrernte
descent and grew up in
Tennant Creek. Olga has
been the CEO of Danila Dilba
Health Service (DDHS) since
2013. She previously held a range of senior
public and non-government sector roles in her
long career in Indigenous Affairs, including NT
Coordinator General for Remote Service Delivery,
Head of Indigenous Strategy with Australian Red
Cross, Deputy Director of the Northern Land
Council, Principal Policy Adviser with the Office
of Indigenous Policy in the NT Department of
the Chief Minister and Manager of Indigenous
Programs at The Fred Hollows Foundation.
Olga has held many board positions as a director,
including the Indigenous Land Corporation,
Voyages Indigenous Tourism Australia, NT Primary
Health Network (NT PHN) and Deputy Chair of the
Aboriginal Medical Services Alliance NT (AMSANT).
Olga has also served as a director of the National
Aboriginal Community Controlled Health
Organisation (NACCHO), Julalikari Council and
the Stars Foundation.
Rodger Williams
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Rodger is a Wiradjuri man
whose family come from the
Mudgee region, NSW. For 14
years, he served in a number
of roles and locations with the
Australian Defence Force. Rodger went on to study
Commerce (Management) and Arts (Japanese)
at the University of Wollongong. Whilst studying
in 2000 and 2001 he served on the Illawarra
Aboriginal Medical Service (IAMS) Board. Rodger
then served as the CEO of the IAMS for five years.
During this time, he was also a Director of the
Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council of
New South Wales (AH&MRC) and from 2007-2016,
was the Chief Operations Officer of the AH&MRC.
In 2016, he accepted the role of CEO
at the Tamworth Aboriginal Medical Service.
Rodger joined Danila Dilba in 2018.

Sharni Cardona
Northern General Manager
Sharni joined DDHS as a
registered nurse at the
Darwin Clinic in Knuckey
Street in 2013 and soon
after was promoted to the
role of Clinic Manager. When DDHS opened a new
clinic at Malak in 2016, Sharni took on the role
of Clinic Manager there. She then worked as our
Continuous Quality Improvement officer for 16
months. In January 2019, Sharni was appointed
Northern General Manager, which oversees
the Rapid Creek and Malak clinics as well as the
Australian Nurse Family Partnership Program.
Malcolm Darling
Darwin General Manager
Malcolm has been with
Danila Dilba for 15 years,
starting out as an Aboriginal
Health Practitioner (AHP)
trainee in 2004. In a varied
career with DDHS, Malcolm has worked as an
AHP, Chronic Disease Coordinator and Manager of
the Men’s clinic. For the past five years, Malcolm
has been the DDHS Darwin General Manager,
overseeing the Darwin (Knuckey Street) Clinic,
Men’s Clinic, and Bagot Clinic, and the Mobile and
Syphilis Emergency Response teams. His senior
role includes project management and oversight
of capital works and property matters for several
DDHS clinics.
Dr Sarah Giles
Clinical Director
Sarah has worked as a
primary health care GP in
rural and remote Australia
since 1997. Her work
has spanned Aboriginal
community controlled providers and mainstream
general practice, and she has been based in the NT
for the last 20 years. Sarah was Director of Public
Health in the Kimberley (WA) and has also served
on the Top End Health Service Board, on General
Practice boards and has been the Chair of the NT
Community Visitor Panel for mental health since
2004. Sarah has been with DDHS since 2015 in
quality and management roles and continues to
do occasional clinical work.
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2017-2022
Strategic Priority 1
Nicholas Kirlew
Information Communications
Technology (ICT) Manager
Nicholas came to the NT in
1986 to work at the Channel
Island Power Station. Thirty
years, two children and a
range of jobs with government, mining and
commercial information technology later,
Nicholas is continuing to support professionals
to get the most out of ICT. Nicholas has a
strong track record in providing ICT solutions in
difficult locations including remote communities.
Nicholas believes good technical infrastructure
should take the stress away from front line
staff. Currently Nicholas runs a small team of
ICT staff at DDHS who are carrying out multiple
remediation projects. In 2018-19 he was
responsible for oversight of a major ICT
review for DDHS.
Joseph Knuth
Manager Community Services
Originally from Queensland,
Joseph has had a diverse career,
starting with work at a banana
plantation, then a cattle station,
a vineyard and drilling rig. He
has also worked as a bar and cocktail waiter
and as an assistant librarian. In 1998, Joseph
sustained a back injury at work which provoked
a major life change and in 2000, he moved
to Darwin to seek new opportunities. After
undertaking studies in administration and law,
Joseph found work with Larrakia Nation where he
worked for five years as Information and Referral
Officer before joining Danila Dilba. He has been
with DDHS for nearly 10 years.
Sulal Mathai
Senior Executive Officer,
Workforce Strategy and
Planning
Sulal has over 13 years’
experience in HR, marketing,
communications and
operations and holds a Post Graduate Diploma
in Management. He is a Certified Practitioner
of Human Resources and is a member of the
Australian Human Resources Institute. Having
worked across the IT, education, not for profit
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and health sectors, Sulal’s expertise lies
in providing strategic, professional and
administrative implementation and change
management support to management teams.
He is passionate about delivering HR solutions
that align individual and team performance with
the organisation’s vision. Sulal also serves as the
Australian Human Resource Institute (AHRI) NT
State Council Secretary and is a board member of
the Multicultural Council NT, the Corrugated Iron
Youth Arts and the Melaleuca Refugee Centre
in Darwin.
Tiana McCoy
Palmerston General Manager
Tiana is local to Darwin,
and started her career at
DDHS with Aboriginal Health
Practitioner training at the
Palmerston Clinic in 2013.
Her area of interest was initially in maternal
health before being promoted to the role of
Clinic Coordinator at the Palmerston Clinic in
June 2016. Tiana became the General Manager
of Palmerston Clinic in 2017. Tiana loves the
supportive environment at DDHS and describes
herself as ‘living proof’ of the unique training
and development opportunities open to staff
within the organisation.
Kayelene Rynne
Finance Manager
As Financial Manager,
Kayelene manages the
organisation’s core financial
functions, supporting DDHS
in its goal for economic
self-sustainability. Kayelene
has worked with not for profit organisations for
over 15 years and specifically with Aboriginal
health services since 2012. Kayelene has a
personal interest in the culture and wellbeing
of Aboriginal people, and in 2016 she relocated
with her family from NSW to take up her position
at DDHS. Kayelene has a Bachelor of Commerce
with majors in Advanced Financial Accounting,
Management Accounting and Business Law,
and Human Resources Management. She is
a member of CPA Australia (the professional
accreditation body for Certified Practicing
Accountants) and is currently completing a
Masters of Commercial Law.

Improving health
and wellbeing
across the
life course

1.1 Our clinics

Danila Dilba delivers our service model at
seven clinics in the Greater Darwin area,
providing quality primary health care services close
to where our clients live. All clinics have worked hard over
the last year to ensure we are providing services that are
responsive to the needs of clients and the local community.
All clinics and staff are engaged in
continuous quality improvement. Services
are constantly reviewed and improvements
are made to the service model to achieve
better client outcomes and at the same time,
strengthen Danila Dilba’s financial security.
Our service model is based on building
relationships, and we are improving our
systems and capabilities so we can better
coordinate care for clients who have more
complex health needs.
In the coming year we plan to establish a
clinic at Humpty Doo to serve clients who
live in the rural area and have secured an
appropriate space to establish the new clinic.
New clients at Danila Dilba clinics

2017-2022
Strategic Priority 4
Achieving continuous
improvement and
integration of
services

Regular clients
8,757
7,915
TOTAL

6,858

4,881
4,405
3,811

3,876

3,510
3,047

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

Regular clients are people who have used Danila Dilba health
services at least three times over two years. Over the past two
years, there has been a 22% growth in the number of regular
clients using our service.

Episodes of care

2018/19

61,556

Palmerston/
Gumileybirra

Malak

488

462

Rapid
Creek

Bagot
Clinic

290

114

55,712

Darwin
Clinic

394

Men’s
Clinic

9

Total 1757
New clients are people who came to a Danila Dilba
clinic for the first time in 2018-2019.

TOTAL

46,015
36,371

32,856
27,423
22,856

25,185

18,592

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

An ‘episode of care’ may include seeing more than one staff
member if they are seeing the client about the same issue.
Counting rules established in 2016-17 allow one ‘episode of
care’ per client per day.
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Men’s Clinic
The Men’s Clinic
continues to provide
culturally appropriate
care to men and delivers
health services that men
feel comfortable to access.

Medical Receptionist, Cecilia Borsi assisting client at the Darwin Clinic

Darwin Clinic
Our oldest general clinic is located in
Knuckey Street, Darwin City. Although
the resident population of Darwin is now
relatively small, the clinic is still well used
by regular clients, people who live in town
communities, visitors to Darwin and people
who are ‘sleeping rough’ or homeless.
The clinic provides phone charging, and tea
and coffee facilities for clients and a shower
service for the homeless. Weekly breakfast
and laundry facilities for homeless people
were continued this year but suspended in
April 2019.
The Knuckey Street Clinic provides specialist
cardiology (heart) and endocrinology
(diabetes) clinics. Allied health services
are also available through the eye and foot
clinics. Danila Dilba’s mobile service is also
based at Knuckey Street.
In response to the early onset of the flu
season last year, Knuckey Street Clinic
started an outreach flu vaccine service
for working people, administering the
flu vaccine to staff at six Aboriginal
organisations in Darwin. We received strong
positive feedback about the convenience of
the service and plan to continue it next year.

Men’s Clinic staff members David Adams, Dr
Nathan Zweck and Wesley Carolin provide
continuity of care for the clinic’s clients
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The
original
Danila Dilba
clinic operated as the
Men’s Clinic from the
early 1990s to 2019

The evolution of the Men’s Clinic holds
special significance to Danila Dilba’s
development as an organisation. The original
clinic on McLachlan Street in Darwin City
was the site of the first Danila Dilba Clinic.
The clinic was soon moved to Knuckey
Street, which allowed the Men’s Clinic to be
established on the McLachlan Street site.
We are now proud to provide a larger and
more modern and accessible service since
the Men’s Clinic was relocated to its new
location in Fannie Bay in April 2019.
The clinic is operated by qualified male
health professionals who provide continuity
of care to a mostly long-term client base,
including people who are living with
disabilities or chronic conditions. Dr.
Nathan Zwek has served in his role as GP
for 16 years, and David Adams has held
the combined role of Aboriginal Health
Practitioner and Men’s Clinic Coordinator for
11 years. Management of chronic conditions
and mental health are important parts of the
service and the psychology and social and
emotional wellbeing services at the clinic
are well attended.

Mobile Clinic team conducting Child Health Checks at
Palmerston Indigenous Village

Mobile Clinic
Danila Dilba’s Mobile Clinic operates from
the Darwin Clinic at Knuckey Street and
continues to deliver services to vulnerable
groups within the community this year,
building more trust and familiarity with
the service.
Over the last year, the team has been
operating outreach clinics for vulnerable
populations and people who are often
homeless, delivering health checks in

communities and working in collaboration
with other local service providers.
These activities provide an avenue for the
team to engage with community members,
promote participation in health checks and
link people to other services such as alcohol
and other drugs (AOD) and mental health
services which they might otherwise be
unlikely or unable to access.

Danila Dilba’s Mobile Clinic was invited
to support Larrakia Nation’s Road Safety
Barbeque at Mindil Beach in June 2019.
This event built on Larrakia’s regular
‘Arts in the Grass’ program and was also
attended by other services, including
One Disease and NT Remote Alcohol
and Other Drugs, with Orange Sky also
attending with their free laundry and
shower service van.

Dr Jamila Priore and Mobile Team Coordinator
Malcolm Laughton at Larrakia Nation’s Road
Safety Barbeque in June
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Bagot Clinic
Bagot Clinic joined the Danila Dilba ‘family’ in
2017-18 after the Bagot community and AMSANT
approached Danila Dilba to consider auspicing
the community clinic in early 2017.
This year the focus has been on continuing to
build strong relationships with the community and
providing a service that is responsive to its needs.
In 2019, the clinic hosted a ‘meet and greet’ event
to build goodwill within the community and this
resulted in a notable increase in the number of
clients accessing the clinic.
In collaboration with the Deadly Choices program,
Bagot Clinic commenced school based health
checks at Manunda Terrace Primary School and
the clinic is eager to continue to partner with
Deadly Choices to address the health needs of
local children. Reflecting Danila Dilba’s increased
focus on child-appropriate counselling services,

Bagot Clinic has
established a child
therapy room to
provide these
services, and the
clinic has also
refreshed its facilities
with a new play area
for children.

Danila Dilba staff Kirra
Muggeridge, David Precoma,
Anna Berto and Charmaine
Starr with Bagot Community
President, Helen Fejo-Frith.

An increasing number of specialist services
are now being offered to address some of the
more complex needs within the community,
including paediatric services, child and adult
counselling, and pregnancy care.
This year, Danila Dilba and the clinic staff
supported the community in an appeal against
an application for a major Dan Murphy alcohol
outlet on nearby Bagot Road.

Malak Clinic
Malak Clinic opened in July 2016 and provides
a popular and growing service to the local
community. It has a welcoming and family
friendly environment, and over the past two
years has provided services to approximately
2,700 unique clients including high numbers
of families and children. This year Malak
welcomed 462 new DDHS clients.
In 2018-19, Malak Clinic increased specialist
services, including pharmacy and mental
health support. Clinic renovations last year
established a space for the Australian Nurse
Family Partnership Program (ANFPP) team
which is now located there. Together with the
midwife team, the ANFPP supports pregnant
women and new mothers across Darwin
and Palmerston.
Planning is underway for Malak Clinic to
begin school-based health checks for Stars
Foundation students at Sanderson and
Dripstone Middle Schools. We are also

Danila Dilba
Staff at Rapid
Creek Clinic.
L-R: Raelene
Noonan, Stratos
Roussos, Jessica
Hallewell, Shane
Russell, Andrea
Roe, Chloe
Mulholland and
Saidah Haron

building the capacity of Malak Clinic to
provide diabetes education, with clinical staff
undertaking further study in this field.
Malak Clinic is the first DDHS clinic to
participate in Health Care Homes, an
Australian government trial of a different
way of funding care for people who have
chronic disease, with tailored levels of
payment according to the level of the
individual’s need. It is designed to improve
health care for patients with chronic and
complex conditions, to help them live healthier
lives at home and
keep them out of
hospital. Fiftyfive clients are
enrolled, and
the second
phase of the
trial is now
underway.

Rapid Creek Clinic
Since the Rapid Creek Clinic opened in
February 2018, we have welcomed 290
new Danila Dilba clients to this clinic.
The Rapid Creek Clinic is centrally located
and is increasingly popular with visitors to
Darwin and middle aged and older clients
who need specialist services in a warm and
welcoming environment.
The services at Rapid Creek Clinic have been
developed in response to client needs. The
clinic provides a renal hub for clients with
chronic disease including kidney problems
to access diabetes education and care
coordination. Rapid Creek Clinic now offers a
physiotherapy service and an exercise group
for clients with chronic diseases.
Danila Dilba’s Oral Health Hygienist, Jessica
Hallewell, also now attends at Rapid Creek
(and other clinics) to provide assessment
and referrals to dental clinics where needed,
oral health hygiene and education, and
fluoride treatment for children. Antenatal
care, medication review and outreach aged
care are also important parts of the Rapid

Danila Dilba staff Tracy Sansbury, Andrea Roe and
Carla Rodrigues at the Rapid Creek Clinic

Creek Clinic service. The outreach aged
care service supports clients at the
the Regis Tiwi aged care facility with
culturally appropriate holistic primary
health care.
Rapid Creek Clinic also provides a space for
the Bringing Them Home Seniors’ Group
who usually gather together there three
times a month to prepare and enjoy a
delicious meal and other social activities.

Danila Dilba Registered Nurse Lauren Stacey with Hawthorn
Hawks player Jarman Impey at the Malak Clinic
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2017-2022
Strategic Priority 1

1.2 C
 ommunity engagement
and health promotion
Aboriginal Health
Practitioner trainees
Sarah Quong (left)
and Darren Braun
with Clinic Manager
Corinne Swan

Palmerston and Gumileybirra Clinics
Palmerston Clinic has continued to expand
after-hours clinics in the evenings from
Monday to Thursday, making the service
more accessible and convenient for school
aged children and clients who work during
business hours.

Palmerston Senior and Middle
Schools, along with Humpty Doo
Primary School. We look forward
to offering this service to more
schools in the Palmerston and
rural areas next year.

The extended hours enable us to provide
additional services to families and young
people, and male and female GPs are
rotated to give clients more opportunities to
book appointments with their preferred GP.

Over the last year while midwives moved
to work out of local clinics, Gumileybirra
strengthened its women’s health service in
response to female clients’ needs for a safe
space to access health services including
sexual and contraception services.

This year, to improve integration of services
for people with diabetes, we installed a
retinal camera and trained staff with the
help of Brian Holden Vision. Changes to
the back of the eye (retina) can occur as a
complication of diabetes. If a client who has
diabetes has not had an eye check, an AHP
can take a photo of the back of the eye. The
photo is then reviewed by a GP and if there
is a problem, the client can be referred on
the spot for management.
Over the past year, the Palmerston Clinic
completed 169 health checks with the
Clontarf Academy and Palmerston Girls
Academy at Palmerston College, and
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Gumileybirra
supports
women of all
ages and life
circumstances

Gumileybirra supports women of all ages
and life circumstances and provides a
safe and inviting environment for younger
women, older women and women who are
living rough. It is an inviting environment for
younger women and encourages them to
start accessing women’s services.
Some of our female clients are sleeping
rough, and these women are particularly
vulnerable to family and sexual violence.
Gumileybirra offers a private place for
women to talk to health workers and
doctors about their needs and concerns.

Improving health
and wellbeing
across the
2017-2022
life course
Strategic Priority 3

Community engagement and health promotion are
an essential part of comprehensive primary health care.
Our Community Services team works with
the community to engage people in their
health, support and promote healthy
behaviours, encourage health checks, and
advocate for improvements in the social
determinants of health – the factors that
affect health, such as poverty, trauma,
and poor housing and employment
opportunities.
Much of this activity takes place in schools
and at community events in Darwin and
Palmerston in collaboration with other
organisations that provide services or
advocacy relevant to Danila Dilba clients and
their health, including rehabilitation services,
homelessness support services, advocacy
groups and government departments.

Strengthening
partnerships and
relationships

Deadly Choices
Deadly Choices is a health promotion
and education program that empowers
people, particularly young people, to make
positive health and wellbeing choices
and encourages community members to
come into clinics for a thorough health
check. Deadly Choices is delivered by all
Community Services staff as part of their
respective programs. In 2018-19, Deadly
Choices provided health education to
223 school students.

In May 2019, Deadly Choices
established a partnership with
the Stars Foundation, based on
our shared goals to work with
young people through schools and
encourage leadership skills and
healthy lifestyles.
Each week, Deadly Choices
engaged the Stars Foundation girls
with an activity such as abseiling,
rock climbing, obstacle courses
and teaching the girls how to play
edor. These activities help the girls
to develop strength, resilience and
confidence.
The program also has an educational
focus and has partnered with the
Australian Army, supporting the

Stars Foundation students from Sanderson
Middle Schoolsharing a bonding moment
during a game of edor.

girls to develop strategic thinking
capabilities. This partnership started
with a small group of girls in Casuarina
and has now expanded to about
50 girls across different parts
of Darwin.
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Tackling Indigenous Smoking
With a focus on population health, the
Tackling Indigenous Smoking (TIS) team
is strongly engaged at community events
to increase awareness of QUIT messages
and support services available to the
community.
The TIS team is also part of school education
programs with Deadly Choices to encourage
young people to avoid taking up smoking or
to get help to quit.

Hawthorn Hawks joined Darwin students to play a game of edor at
Malak oval, celebrating the Hawks’ partnership with Deadly Choices.

Deadly Choices partnerships
Over the last year the Deadly Choices
program has worked on partnerships to
broaden its reach and engage more young
people to build their leadership skills,
healthy behaviours and personal resilience.
In February 2019, Deadly Choices
launched a national partnership with the
Hawthorn Football Club at the Malak Clinic.
Students from Casuarina Senior College,
Sanderson Middle School and the Malak
Re-engagement Centre came along to meet
and greet some of the Hawthorn team.
Deadly Choices program graduates were
invited to attend the launch and play edor,
a traditional Indigenous football game
with the Hawthorn players.
Hawthorn defender, Jarman Impey, said he
hoped the partnership would encourage
more young Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander people to prioritise their health.
“Our goal is to ensure all Indigenous kids
across Australia are well and healthy,”
Jarman said.

In June, the Deadly Choices and Tackling
Indigenous Smoking teams represented
Danila Dilba at the Parramatta Eels vs
Canberra Raiders game at TIO Stadium.
Manunda Primary School students who
completed the Deadly Choices Program
were invited to attend the game.
Deadly Choices students demonstrating
leadership skills and positive behaviours
were rewarded with a game of pass the ball
with former NT Sportsperson of the Year,
Bo De La Cruz and Deadly Choices Team
Leader and former Indigenous All Stars
player and
captain, Tracey
Thompson. These
graduates were
thrilled to run
out onto the field
with the Eels
players before the
game started.

Danila Dilba Community Services team members
Kirra Muggeridge, Tracey Thompson and David
Precoma at the Canberra Raiders
vs Paramatta Eels game at TIO Stadium.
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This year the TIS team worked on developing
a social media campaign to share healthy
messages and promote QUIT support
services. The campaign messages were
informed by last year’s social media research
project partnership with the Menzies School
of Health Research.

The TIS team is currently contributing to the
SISTAQUIT research project which is being
implemented by the University of NSW. The
SISTAQUIT trial aims to improve the skills of
health providers offering smoking cessation
support to pregnant Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander women.
The TIS team has three full-time staff
members who engage with and support
the community on their QUIT journeys and
promote broader population health and
policy measures needed to support a QUIT
culture. The TIS program received further
funding for programs in 2019-2020.

World No Tobacco Day carnival
promotes QUIT agenda
On 18 May 2019, the TIS team partnered
with the National Rugby League NT,
the NT Touch Association and the NT
Government’s Alcohol and Other Drugs
Service to deliver their first World No
Tobacco Day Family Touch Carnival at
Darwin’s Anula Park.
Seven teams, from rehabilitation
centres, Danila Dilba and Saltbush Social
Enterprises, came together to play in
the carnival.
The Danila Dilba Community Services
team engaged with some 200 community
members through our tobacco education
stall, sharing information about the
harmful effects of smoking on Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander people in the
community. Community Services also
provided a healthy barbecue lunch for
guests and participants.

The World No Tobacco Day Family Touch Carnival finalists,
the FORWAARD and Darwin teams go head to head in the
last game of the carnival.

Feedback from one participant showed
the event was well received by families in
the community.
“I really enjoyed the Family Touch
Carnival. It was well organised and familyfriendly. I can’t wait for the next one!”

Part of the NT
Deadlies team,
Bill Ivory, Darren
Menaway,
David Precoma,
David Parfitt
and volunteer
referee, Michaela
Vaughan.
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Responding to the syphilis outbreak

Don Dale Youth Social Support Program

Syphilis is a sexually transmitted infection
that has increased in prevalence, particularly
in northern Australia, over the past ten
years. The biggest risk to our community is
untreated syphilis in pregnancy as it can
harm unborn babies.
Since 2017, Danila Dilba has been working to
help stop the outbreak in Darwin and is part
of a collective of health organisations working
to address the outbreak in the greater Darwin
area. We partner in these efforts with other
organisations, staff and the community. This
promotes a common understanding of the
issues and helps to avoid duplication of effort.
We have also made the testing process as
convenient as possible to those most at risk
of contracting syphilis and we offer the test as
part of routine health checks for this at
risk group.
‘Point of care’ testing is national best practice
in an outbreak. It is quick and can be done
conveniently for the client while they are
visiting the clinic. It also means clients can
start treatment before they leave the clinic
if they have infective syphilis.

Mobile Team Coordinator Malcolm Laughton
providing information and education on new syphilis
testing kits at a Rapid Creek Clinic in-service meeting.

We have advocates within Danila Dilba who
educate, train and support all the clinical staff
about why the test is important and how
to do it. The rate of testing will increase as
all our clinical staff become more confident.
Through outreach and community education
by the Syphilis Enhanced Response
The biggest
team, we have reduced the time
risk to our
from test to treatment and
community
consequently the risk to others.
is untreated
syphilis
in
Danila Dilba has also provided
leadership in the national response, pregnancy as
it can harm
sharing knowledge and practical
advice and mentoring other health unborn
babies.
care services.

Medical internship “a powerful and unforgettable experience”
Kristina Zillhardt is an Aboriginal health workforce student who came to us
through the Aurora Project to take up a one-month internship with Danila Dilba this year.
Kristina is an Aboriginal woman from Sydney,
currently enrolled as a mature age student in her
first year of nursing.
Kristina says the internship was a unique and
unforgettable opportunity that gave her invaluable
clinical experiences. Kristina worked in clinics,
mainly with the mobile clinic, with the health
systems team and attended staff training sessions,
including specialised group training on the
syphilis outbreak.
“This was such a unique experience, witnessing
primary health care in action,” she said. “I travelled
to different locations to meet clients who would
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normally be disengaged with health care and
I saw how DDHS contributes to saving lives.”
Kristina’s professional background in health
and disability also enabled her to advise on
implementing a zero tolerance of violence policy,
in relation to people with cognitive disabilities.
“Overall this internship has been paramount to
my learning of the diversity in primary health care.
Watching staff work so respectfully and mindfully
of culture and traditional aspects was a powerful
and unforgettable experience. Once I’m a qualified
nurse, I hope to replicate the kind of care I have
witnessed at Danila Dilba,” Kristina said.

Social Worker, Jahmayne Coolwell and Youth Engagement Officer,
Moses Niki run the Don Dale Youth Support Program.

The Don Dale Youth Support Program has
been supporting young people in detention
for three years.

are increasingly requesting the youth team
to check in with young people they
are concerned about.

This year the team has really defined its
role and has become an invaluable and
embedded part of the supports available
to the young people at Don Dale. The team
is on site six days per week and is always
available to the young people to talk,
advocate and assist.

The program also delivers a range of
activities and education including sport,
physical fitness, cooking, understanding
emotions, relationships and sexual health
along with a formal health education
program delivered through the school.

The team is focused on providing one on
one support and building relationships and
rapport with young people through positive
mentoring and providing a consistent
positive presence in their lives. Support is
given through formal activities like Yarning
Circles or theatre-based therapeutic
activities, and activities that promote
self-regulation and reflection.
Less formal support is provided through
welfare checks with young people who are
new to the centre, are having trouble with
their behaviour or relationships with others,
have been subject to disciplinary measures,
or have returned from court. Young people
may approach the team for help, or the team
might notice a young person is struggling.
Detention centre management and staff

The Youth Social Support Program Danila Dilba
has established itself as an integral is currently
part of support for young people in negotiating with
detention. The team are advocating Territory Families
for young people, participating in
to deliver medical
case conferences, and attending
services at Don
the Youth Advisory Group where
Dale and expects
young people can put their ideas
to commence
forward and are part of the
these services
processes that decide on how
in 2019-20
each young person is rewarded and
encouraged for their behaviour in the centre.
Danila Dilba is currently negotiating with
Territory Families to deliver medical services
at Don Dale and expects to commence these
services in 2019-20. This will enable us to
provide a more comprehensive support
and health program for young people at
the centre.

Danila Dilba Health Service ANNUAL REPORT 2018–2019

page 27

Building
organisational
capacity and
strength

1.3 Q
 uality improvement
and innovation

2017-2022
Strategic Priority 4
Achieving continuous
improvement and
integration of
services

Continuous quality improvement (CQI) and innovation at all levels of the
organisation are fundamental to improving our service model, implementing
our service design, improving processes and improving our clients’ health.
Achieving quality, culturally and clinically
safe services and maintaining financial
and professional sustainability requires a
systematic approach guided by evidence
and learning.
Danila Dilba has a comprehensive suite
of tools to support continuous quality
improvement, that includes:
• Whole of service design and design
of new activities

• Clinical audits
• Incident reporting and client feedback
• Open disclosure
• Reviews and evaluations of key aspects
of service delivery and operation
• Information/data analysis through
Communicare and Power Bi software
and sharing stories
• Clinical and organisational accreditation.

• ‘Plan-Do-Study-Act’ processes at all levels

Clinical governance and quality framework
Clinical governance is led by Danila Dilba’s
• Board Audit and Risk Management
Committee (ARMC)

The ARMC is currently focusing on further
development of our Risk Management
Framework.

• Clinical Safety and Quality Committee
(CS&QC)

The Audit and Risk Management Committee
members in 2018-19 were

• Communicare Working Group

• Danila Dilba Chairperson, Carol Stanislaus

• Medicines Review process

• Danila Dilba Independent Directors
Bronwyn Rossingh and David Pugh
(until his resignation from the Board
in April 2019)

• Service Design Steering Committee.
Our Clinical Director has overall
responsibility for quality and safety, and
our CQI officer supports CQI activities
and leads implementation of change and
improvement plans.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee
(ARMC) oversees the effectiveness of our
safety and quality systems and advises
the Danila Dilba Board. It receives regular
reports from the Clinical Director on incident
reports, KPIs and clinic performance and
has oversight of accreditation outcomes.
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2017-2022
Strategic Priority 2

• Danila Dilba Director Malcolm Hauser
(appointed 28 June 2019)
• Independent member Shane Smith,
Managing Director of CFO Part Time in
Darwin, who chairs the committee, and
• Adjunct Associate Professor Bernie
Harrison, Director of the Australian Council
on Health Care Standards Improvement
Academy, who is pre-eminent in the field
of health quality and safety.

Health systems
Our small Health Systems team ensures
that we have the tools and processes we
need to progress the Danila Dilba business
plan, whole of service design and our
clinical governance and quality framework.
By continually checking service design and
what works for clients we can respond to
needs or opportunities while maintaining
quality and consistency.
The Health Systems team supports managers
with data, improvement methods, systems
and service review, effective implementation
of new ideas, training, and monitoring
and evaluation. Doctors and other clinical
staff have had the opportunity to work in
the health systems team this year, which
has increased their understanding of how
we make improvements that will last. A
major project reviewed allied health and
specialist services to improve the quality
and sustainability of these services. We
also implemented secure referrals from
Communicare to the outpatients at Top End
Health Service to improve clinical handover.
Our team also works closely with AMSANT
and the NT Health Department, including the
Centre for Disease Control, and contributes
to Northern Territory and national reviews.
In 2018-19 these included the Medicare
Benefits Schedule review, MyHealth Record
implementation, input to the NT CQI steering
committee, and contributing to Danila
Dilba’s submissions to the Royal Commission
on Aged Care and the Dan Murphy liquor
licence application objection. We also
helped host Wuchopperan Health Services
from Cairns, Queensland, and explained our
service design to their representatives.

Collecting and managing data
The process of ‘telling the story with
data’ and making small planned changes,
and checking it works through good
data collection, leads to sustainable
improvements.

• The Power BI clinical data dashboard
ensures that we have data right data to
understand our community, our clients and
their health, and our clinic business.
• Most client data is collected through
Communicare, our patient information
system. Staff are trained in quality input
and continuous data cleaning, and in
understanding and using the data.
Our quality data is used for reporting and
management and for funding submissions.
It is available to anyone in the organisation
from Board members to staff and is provided
in the Annual Report. This year we were
in the first four organisations to report at
the end-of-year to the Commonwealth
Government using their new portal.

Medicare income
Medicare and Practice Incentive Program
income generated by Danila Dilba continued
to grow in 2018-19, with a 38% increase
since 2015-16. This year the team refined
the clinic chronic disease target model
to ensure that we are able to optimise
Medicare without compromising quality
of care. Business data was made more
accessible to clinic managers and, combined
with training for managers and clinicians in
audit processes, has increased Medicare
processing at clinic level. Practice Incentive
Payments (PIP) enrolments were maintained
and these payment will improve with further
attention to chronic disease care after the
review of this area is completed.
Medicare income
2015-16

$ 3,280,200.00

2016-17

$ 4,067,364.00

2017-18

$ 4,780,198.00

2018-19

$ 5,264,253.00

Medicare income is used by Danila Dilba to improve our
services and open new clinics. The growth in income reflects
an increase in Chronic Disease Plans and Health Checks, and
improved processes such as Close The Gap registration and
Primary Health Care team follow up.
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Every six months our National Key
Performance Indicators (KPIs) are presented
to our Board and All Staff meetings. There
are 32 national KPIs (some shown in this
Annual Report) and 13 have Close the Gap
targets for 2023. These indicators are one
way we know that our service design is
working to improve care and health and
wellbeing. If services reach the targets, we
can anticipate that health will improve.
In 2019 we reached three of the 2023
targets, two were close to the 2023 target,
and six were well above their 2019 targets.
Two important areas – immunisation of
people over 50 and reducing smoking in
pregnancy – are an ongoing challenge for
our community and service, as is the case
across Australia.

Most of the feedback we receive is positive
and compliments us on our wonderful
service and reception staff. However,
consistent with a CQI approach, recent
improvements have been made because
of client feedback, including changes to
transport safety and managing clients
with a disability.
Complaints

Total

Client feedback improves our service
Feedback is important to us and Danila Dilba
actively encourages and helps clients to
give feedback about our service. Continual
review of client feedback and our complaints
process enables us to improve services and
client care. Client feedback and complaints
are reviewed first by the Clinic Manager who
decides on the appropriate action. Formal
complaints are investigated by General
Managers.
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Overall
experience
91%

Explanation
of your
treatment Follow up
& support
Friendliness options
94%
98%
& helpfulness
of staff
94%

The above elements of our service
were rated good/excellent by more
than 90% of clients who gave
feedback.

Appointments

0

Other

2

Privacy & Confidentiality

0

Overall experience

91%

Client Eligibility

0

Ease of making an appointment

86%

Staff Conduct

4

Transport

87%

Service Delivery

8

Friendliness & helpfulness of staff

94%

External

3

Reception area

89%

Total Complaints

17

Waiting time

88%

Explanation of your health issue
Explanation of your treatment options

85%
94%

Follow up / support

98%

I feel my personal information is kept
private and confidential

87%

Treatment improvement plans
Syphilis, immunisation, anaemia and
rheumatic heart disease action improvement
plans were all updated this year, and
a review of Hepatitis C management
showed that most people with Hep C have
been offered treatment and many have
completed it. The monthly training calendar
ensures transparency and maintains our
commitment to training and planning time
for training.

Percentage of clients who rated our service
good/excellent through client feedback

How to give feedback
Feedback is important to us. Feedback tells
us where we are doing a good job and can
point to problems that need to be fixed:
• Posters in our clinics explain how to give
us feedback
• Forms are available at all clinics
• You can use a feedback form to tell us
what you like, if someone does a good
job or if you would like to see something
improved
•Danila Dilba Safety and Community
Engagement officers can help clients fill
out a feedback form
• Clients can give feedback by phone
• If a complaint is made by phone,
we fill out a form on the client’s behalf,
or we ask the client to make a formal
complaint.
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National key performance indicators

Clinical and work health safety
As part of Continuous Quality Improvement,
we gather information from our staff incident
reporting process on Bilurunet (our intranet).
All incidents are reported to the Audit and
Risk Management Committee by the
Clinical Director.
When an incident is reported, it is investigated
by the Clinic Manager or Team Leader to make
sure it is addressed quickly and understand what
caused it. The General Manager for that area
assists to finalise a response and consider if a
change in practice is needed.
All incidents are reviewed by either the
Clinical Safety and Quality Committee or the
Work Health and Safety Committee. Both
committees have implemented a Safety
Assessment Code matrix to analyse incidents,
and a systems change or whole of service
improvement plan is considered and
implemented if necessary.
Clinical Incidents

Total

Adverse Reaction/Event

0

Blood/Bodily Fluid Exposure

2

Example of a whole of service improvement plan

Documentation Error

2

Immunisations against flu and meningitis increased
in early 2019 and there was a corresponding
increase in the number of immunisation incidents
recorded. To address this, we provided feedback to
staff on the two-person check process, increased
training and supported staff to get real time
information on client immunisation history from
the national register.

Immunisation Error

24

Medication Error

6

Needle stick Injury

3

Other

8

Pharmacy Error
Total Clinical Incidents

3
48

WHS Incidents

Total

Physical Injury

8

Property

9

Transport

20

Verbal Abuse to Staff

21

Emotional Wellbeing

1

Critical or Adverse Event

0

Other
Total WHS Incidents

3
62
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2017-2022
Strategic Priority 2

1.4 C
 ontinuous organisational
development

Accreditation and review
Accreditation and review are important
formal CQI mechanisms to monitor
and assess our successes and areas
for improvement.
In 2018-19 we undertook an assessment
of Quality Innovation Performance against
the Quality Improvement Council (QIC)
standards for health and community
services.
Clinics are accredited separately by
Australian General Practice Accreditation
Limited (AGPAL). Both accreditation systems
have indicated over a number of years that
we are tracking well against quality, safety
and client satisfaction indicators. Formal
reviews were also carried out for aspects
of our operation.
QIC Health and Community Standards
Accreditation
Danila Dilba undertook a Quality Innovation
Performance assessment against the QIC
Health and Community Standards in 2018.
The review demonstrated we are meeting all
indicators across Governance, Management
systems, Consumer and community
engagement, Diversity and cultural
appropriateness and Service delivery.
The accreditation process acknowledged
many positive aspects of the way we
operate as a health service and the impact
on clients and the internal workforce. It
also recognised the way we use data to
assess and guide improvements, the sound
systems in place, and the consistency of
understanding about what the organisation
does and what clients will get when they
access the service.
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Registered Nurse Taylor Matthews
is preparing to conduct a client’s health check.

The QIP accreditors reported on
“a workplace culture of transparency and
accountability” and “shared passion and
sense of purpose, together with pride in the
reputation of this dynamic organisation.”
QIP also made some
...we are
(non-compulsory)
tracking
recommendations,
well against
including improving
quality, safety
the consistency of
and client
documentation and
satisfaction
records management,
indicators.
and implementing
knowledge management as part
of an overall ICT Review to support
organisational expansion.
The ARMC considered the process and
outcome of our Quality Improvement
Council (QIC) accreditation report and the
recommendations will be adopted in our
CQI practice.

Building
organisational
capacity and
strength

Korn Ferry organisational
performance review

Enhancing and building
management and leadership

Danila Dilba has grown and expanded over
the last five years and we have changed
our service design, grown our management
team and changed our corporate supports
in response.

As part of our ongoing investment to lift
the skills and capacity of all our staff, in
2018 - 19 we initiated several development
programmes to enhance and build the
leadership and management skills and
abilities of all managers.

In 2018-19, in line with good CQI practice,
Danila Dilba took the opportunity to
review our organisational performance
and structures. Consulting firm Korn Ferry
was engaged to conduct an organisational
performance review to look at our operating
model, structure, and job roles. Part of
our motivation was to create sustainability
around roles and responsibilities instead of
having functions resting on individuals.
From May to June 2019, the review was
conducted across all clinics and work
locations. The Korn Ferry team conducted
interviews, focus groups and workshops
to gather the data needed to assess
our capabilities, look at gaps and make
recommendations on how to address these
gaps. After the initial analysis, the Korn Ferry
team worked with us to put a roadmap
together to ensure our future growth is
sustainable.
The roadmap developed by Korn Ferry will
guide development of operational structures,
capability building and ongoing CQI actions
into the future and will be progressively
implemented in 2019-20.

As part of this management development
program, a ‘360 Degree’ feedback
project was undertaken by the Executive
Management Team.
360 feedback for managers
360 Degree feedback provides an
opportunity for managers to understand
how their effectiveness as an employee,
co-worker or manager is viewed by others.
Danila Dilba Executive Management Team
members each took part in a 360 feedback
survey. A summary of the feedback and
recommendations was provided by
consultant Chris Hancock, who worked
with us on the project.
Chris also met individually with each
manager to share insights from the feedback.
The 360 project enhanced our organisational
development and will be followed up by
structured, personalised developmental
activities for managers.
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Information and Communications Technology (ICT) update

Provision of health care within a culturally
safe environment is vital for clinically safe
and effective health care and better
health outcomes.

The new structure, to be implemented in
2019-20, will utilise the cultural skills and
knowledge of our staff in three different
roles:

Danila Dilba routinely ensures that all new
staff receive cultural awareness training, and
this year we embarked on a major project
to create an organisation-wide cultural
safety and competency framework. The
framework is designed to strengthen the
cultural knowledge and skills of all staff to
assure cultural safety in all our services, not
only in clinical services, but generally in our
culturally diverse workplace.

• Cultural advisers –
	‘go to’ advisers for
colleagues; liaise
and engage with the
community and build
relationships

In the context of significant organisational
growth, a challenging environment, external
threats and awareness that our ICT systems
were in danger of struggling in the near
future, Danila Dilba engaged an external
consultant to provide an assessment of ICT
infrastructure and identify areas for future
improvement and investment.

A series of staff workshops in early 2019
established that our staff need in-house
cultural induction specifically designed
for Danila Dilba, together with individual
mentoring and ongoing education, especially
for frontline staff. To do this, Danila Dilba will
develop a structured training and mentoring
program and establish a more formal
structure that rewards Aboriginal staff for
cultural knowledge and skills and at the
same time, provide opportunities
for their personal and professional
development.

• Cultural mentors –
	provide structured
one-on-one mentoring
for frontline health
professionals and clinicians

The framework
is designed
to strengthen
the cultural
knowledge
and skills of
all staff to
assure cultural
safety in all our
services

During 2018-19, early improvements were
made including:

• Cultural educators –
	present and lead cultural
induction training.
The ongoing cultural education and
mentoring program will adopt a two-tier
structure, with all staff taking part in Level 1
education, and managers and all front-line
staff and clinicians undertaking additional
Level 2 training at a deeper level.

Policy
Cultural
Education

Staff
guidelines

CULTURAL
SAFETY
FRAMEWORK
Resources

Key elements of the new
Danila Dilba Cultural Safety
and Competency framework.
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Ongoing
training

An ambitious remediation program was
developed to support us in our next phase of
growth. Increasing our capacity to support
business continuity has been a strong part
of the plan, ensuring we can continue to run
our business in times of crisis or disaster.

• Level 1
• Level 2

Cultural
Advisors,
Mentors,
Educators

• Public wireless implemented across all
clinics enabling GP, staff and client access
to wi-fi on their personal devices.

• The ICT team successfully
completed delivery of
its video conferencing
program.
• Secure faxing, which
protects patient privacy
while ensuring we meet
accreditation standards,
was implemented.
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Cultural safety and competency framework

An ambitious
remediation
program was
developed to
support us in
our next phase
of growth.

• In light of the increasing risk of cyberattack over the last year, a cyber security
response plan was created to develop our
capacity to manage external threats.
As a result of the ICT review, Danila Dilba
committed to a major financial investment
to expand our ICT capacity and upgrade
ICT infrastructure to meet the current and
future needs of the organisation.

Understanding our value: Deloitte cost benefit analysis
Deloitte Access Economics was again
engaged in 2018-19 to complete a Cost
Benefit Analysis (CBA) of our services and
operating environment. This measures the
amount of benefit delivered for the money
spent on a service and enables us to gain a
clearer understanding of Danila Dilba’s
success and impact.
Deloitte’s analysis compared the cost to
run our service with similar organisations.
It assessed the benefits that our service
creates for the broader healthcare system and
looked at the wellbeing impacts for our clients.
It also looked at the unique challenges facing
us, including social determinants of health
in our client population in Darwin, chronic
disease prevalence and the cost to recruit
staff into the organisation.

labour market trends that have reduced
the pool of appropriate applicants.
The report also acknowledged the unique
complexities of our client base, including a
high number of visitors from remote
communities who have complex health
needs.
Despite these challenges, every $1 invested
in DDHS services generated a $4 return or
benefit. Some key areas of benefits delivered
over one year were:
• Prevention of low birthweight births,
generated $1 million in social and
economic benefit,
• 9.2% reduction in the risk of a
cardiovascular disease event such as a
stroke or heart attack among our clients
generated a $1.7 million benefit,

The report showed that we have enjoyed
solid achievements despite growth among our • Prevention of complications resulting
from type II diabetes delivered a
client population, and significant challenges in
$3.6 million benefit.
staff recruitment and retention due to current
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Governance

Community

Board

Executive
Officer

Office of the Chief Executive

Marketing
Strategy,
and
Research and
Communications
Policy

Clinical Services

Clinical Director
Health Systems

Communicare

Medicare

Registrar
Program

Education
and Training

Darwin Region
General Manager

Darwin
Clinic

Men’s
Clinic

Bagot
Clinic

Northern Region
General Manager

Malak
Clinic

Rapid
Creek
Clinic

Australian
Nurse Family
Partnership Program

Palmerston Region
General Manager

Palmerston
Clinic

Gumileybirra
Women’s
Health

Child
Health

General Manager
Community Services

Deadly Choices

Social and
Emotional
Wellbeing

Youth
Support
Service

Tackling
Indigenous
Smoking

Youth
Engagement

Alcohol
and Other
Drugs

Deputy CEO

Office
Services

Audit
Compliance

Finance

Finance and
Budget

Payroll

Senior Executive
Officer - Workforce
Strategy

HR
Coordinators

Information
Communication
Technology (ICT)

Building
organisational
capacity and
strength

1.5 O
 ur people

Danila Dilba aims to foster a high-performing, innovative
workplace. In line with our Strategic plan 2017-2022, our Human
Resources Strategy is built around three pillars: Talent management,
Engagement and Learning and development.

Members

Chief Executive
Officer
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2017-2022
Strategic Priority 2

Our Organisation

ICT System
Support
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Mobile
Clinic

Research

Allied Health and
specialist services

Midwife Model
of Care

Talent management refers to both internal
and external recruitment. We aspire to
encourage and support all staff to achieve
their potential personally and professionally,
and in their contribution to Danila Dilba,
our clients and colleagues.

Internal recruitment and career
pathways
Implementation of Danila Dilba’s workforce
strategy has greatly improved staff stability
and retention, and reduced staff turnover
and recruitment costs and costs for short
term and agency staff. In 2017-18, these
savings were substantial (approximately
$400,000)
HR Data
76

Incoming staﬀ

Outgoing staﬀ

Corporate Services

Accounts and
payments

TALENT MANAGEMENT

Male staﬀ
(as of June 2019)

Female staﬀ
(as of June 2019)

Total staﬀ
(as of June 2019)

55

61
127

and enabled us to invest in more
training and career development for staff.
In 2018-19 the turnover rate was 29.41%.
A key element of this investment was to
establish processes to support, train and
encourage staff to develop a career pathway
within Danila Dilba. A project built upon
wide consultation with all staff identified
potential career pathways that enable
staff to map out their personal path,
and identify and undertake the training
they need to achieve their personal and
professional goals.
The career pathway diagram shown at
the end of this section (pages 46 to 47)
illustrates these opportunities, that in some
cases can start from winning a traineeship at
Danila Dilba.
Priority is given to advertising all
management positions internally first,
to offer advancement to existing staff
and promote awareness of career
pathway development for all staff.
Internal recruitment has enabled us to
appoint an all-Indigenous team of Clinic
Managers and General Managers and
achieve a majority of 60% Indigenous
senior staff leadership in our Executive
Management team.

187
Average age – 42 years
Indigenous staﬀ:
87 in full time employment
10 in part time employment
Non-Indigenous staﬀ: 90
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Indigenous and non-indigenous staff by roles

CEO

•
•

1
0
4

Clinical Executive - Clinical Director, General Managers 1
Corporate Executive - Deputy CEO, HR, Finance, IT, Communications
Managers/Team Leaders

1

Registrars

3
11

1
0

General Practitioners

11
10

0

10

Nurses (RN & EEN) / Midwives
Clinical Admin/Health Systems

17
12

8

Community services/client support workers

37

2
0

Other professionals (includes counsellors, psychologists, oral health therapist, pharmacist)
Trainees

11
5

0
0

Strategy, research and policy

4
5

Finance, HR, IT, Communications
0

5

6
10

15

20

25

Danila Dilba staff at the Charles Darwin University
Careers and Employment Fair: Lisa Erlandson,
Administration Support Officer (Trainee) and
Andrew King, HR Coordinator

Employer brand recognition
and external recruitment
Danila Dilba’s goal is to be an employer of
choice. This year we continued to develop
and promote our Indigenous employment
initiatives and our ‘brand’ as an employer.
In 2018-19, we successfully recruited 76
staff members taking the total staff
strength to 187.
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In 2018, Danila Dilba won the Stan Grant
Indigenous Employment Award and was
featured Australia-wide as a case study in the
Australian Human Resources Institute (AHRI)
magazine (see opposite).
Danila Dilba was also selected as a finalist
in the Northern Territory 2018 Training
Awards (Medium Employer of the Year).
Whilst DDHS did not win the award, being
selected as a finalist organisation recognises
our strong commitment to the training and
development of our staff.

Indigenous Employment Award - the mark of Excellence
In December 2018, Danila Dilba was
awarded the Stan Grant Indigenous
Employment Award by the Australian
Human Resources Institute (AHRI) for
excellence in Indigenous employment
initiatives and programs in the workplace.
The AHRI awards are Australia’s most
prestigious, recognising and celebrating
HR and business excellence through a
comprehensive awards program.

26

1

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practitioners

Indigenous
Non Indigenous

The win celebrated the success of Danila
Dilba’s Indigenous Employment and Career
Pathways initiative, which commenced in
2017 as part of the new HR strategy around
talent management, engagement and
learning, and career development.
The initiative was supported by an
Indigenous workforce grant from the NT
Government in 2017, which was the first of
its kind. It enabled the development of the
career pathways approach, which includes
a formal mentoring program for future

This recognition is an important part of
building our profile. Since then Senior
Executive Officer, Sulal Mathai, and other
members of our HR team have been invited
to speak at HR conferences in Sydney,
Melbourne and Darwin to share our
successes, challenges and experience in
building a sustainable workforce.
As part of succession planning, Danila Dilba
established a new position of Deputy CEO
in 2018. Rodger Williams commenced on
5 November 2018, winning the position
through a lengthy national recruitment
campaign that attracted applicants from
across Australia (see Rodger’s profile on
page 15).

HR team members Sulal Mathai and Stephenie Reeves
accepting the 2018 AHRI Indigenous Employment Award

Indigenous leaders and an online learning
platform for all health professionals and
other staff.
“This initiative involved setting up
traineeships, mentoring for emerging leaders
and introducing new positions such as Safety
and Community Liaison Officers, broadening
opportunities for Indigenous applicants,” said
Senior Executive Officer, Workforce Strategy
and Planning, Sulal Mathai.

STAFF ENGAGEMENT
‘Great Place to Work’ national survey
Danila Dilba has conducted internal staff
engagement surveys for several years,
gathering valuable feedback about staff
satisfaction and engagement to improve
workforce development.
In 2018-19 we decided to join an Australiawide benchmark study for the Great Place
to Work Institute as one of some 200
organisations that took part, including eight
health organisations.
Participation in this independent, national
project was an important step for Danila
Dilba in our ongoing development as a
leading Aboriginal community-controlled
organisation.

Danila Dilba Health Service ANNUAL REPORT 2018–2019

page 39

The feedback report showed that our key
strength was in employee engagement
(81%), but there were some areas for
improvement including talent management,
management competencies and
organisational alignment.

I’m proud
to tell others
My work
I work here
has special
87%
meaning, this is
not “just a job”
84%

I feel
I make a
difference
here
81%

I would
say this is
a great place
to work
78%

As a result of the recommendations
regarding talent management, management
competency and organisational alignment,
Danila Dilba initiated further organisational
and structural development, including the
360 Degree feedback process undertaken
by the Executive Management Team
(see section 1.4).

LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
Danila Dilba has established a solid learning
and development environment, recognising
that the continuous development of our
employees is key to our future success.
As an employer of choice, we have attracted
talented staff and increased the capability of
staff at every level of the organisation.

$138,816.48
$125,683.00
2017-18

Our clinical staff had been using AMSED
for a year and we have received great
feedback on its usefulness. AMSED offers a
comprehensive online learning platform
and library of modules specifically designed
for employees working in an Aboriginal
Health Service.
The platform provides staff with ready
access to mandatory continuing professional
development (CPD) education and other
learning activities related to service delivery
and client care. All AMSED modules
meet Australian Health Practitioner
Regulation Agency (AHPRA) CPD criteria
for nurses, midwives and Aboriginal health
practitioners.
Modules
Used

CPD
Hours

Active
Employees

823

1261.5

178

Danila Dilba is developing our own modules
to familiarise staff with our policies and
procedures. The first module in progress is
on our privacy and confidentiality policy.
External training and professional
development 2018-19
Core Training

19

Administrative

13

Clinical

21

Leadership / supervisory

42

Specialised / Technical
$168,867.00

2018-19
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Indigenous health workforce career pathways research

Aboriginal Medical Service Education
24/7 (AMSED) access was extended to
all employees during 2018-19 to support
continuing professional development for
all staff.

Professional Development

Learning and development
expenditure growth chart

2016-17

Online learning
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The study gathered employee views through
a ‘Trust Index’ survey, and a ‘Culture Audit’
that reviews workplace culture, policies and
practices. The survey assesses employee
engagement and was open to staff for two
weeks, with a participation rate of 72%
(compared with 94% participation in the last
Danila Dilba survey).

Expanding and strengthening the
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
health professional workforce is crucial
to improving the health and wellbeing
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
communities.
In 2018, Danila Dilba staff participated
in the Lowitja Institute’s Career
Pathways research project. This
national study aims to enhance the
capacity of the health system to retain
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
health professionals and support their
career development.
Aboriginal Community Controlled
Health Organisations in NSW and the
NT are participating in the project, with
the Aboriginal Medical Alliance of the
NT (AMSANT) representing the NT.
The findings will inform a larger
national report for the Lowitja Institute.
Focus group interviews were carried
out as ‘yarning circles’ with health
professionals between September
and November 2018. The topics
included why Aboriginal people work
at Danila Dilba, the strength, skills
and characteristics of our Aboriginal
health workforce, the main pathways
for Aboriginal health staff to develop
their careers and the roadblocks they
experience, and opportunities for
future work in this area.

Some of the preliminary findings
validate Danila Dilba’s reputation as a
“reputable, culturally safe workplace
for both staff and clients.”
The yarning circles revealed many
Aboriginal people work for Danila Dilba
to address the social determinants
of health and contribute to selfdetermination, social justice, advocacy
and to act as a cultural broker.
Many Aboriginal health professionals
referenced their own lived experience
and the personal responsibility they
feel to provide guidance to younger
generations.
Danila Dilba’s work around raising
the profile of the Aboriginal Health
Practitioner (AHP) role, expanding
training opportunities, investing in
research, commitment to cultural
safety and recognising the cultural
skills of our staff, and our significant
level of advocacy work, were
recognised by our staff as positive
current developments for the industry.

Some of the
preliminary findings
validate Danila
Dilba’s reputation as a
“reputable, culturally
safe workplace for
both staff and clients.”

162
2

Work Health Safety

17

Mandatory

69

This table shows the number of external courses or training
activities undertaken by Danila Dilba staff in 2018-19.
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In-service training
In 2018-19, Danila Dilba provided 60
hours of in-house training to all clinical
staff including five hours of training or
professional development within work
hours. Wednesday afternoon training was
added to the monthly training calendar to
accommodate the addition of a clinic stream
(i.e. a clinic remaining open for clients) on
Friday afternoons, the usual training day.

Cultural awareness training
Cultural awareness training is mandatory
for all new staff. In 2018-19 Danila Dilba
organised exclusive training at our premises
for staff, with 27 staff members attending
the training. Danila Dilba is developing a
Cultural Safety and Competency framework
that aims to include in-house cultural
awareness education specifically designed
for Danila Dilba staff (see more in
section 1.4)

Medical and Aboriginal Health
Practitioner training
Danila Dilba’s most significant education
commitment in 2018-19 continued to be
in hosting General Practice (GP) Registrars
(doctors training to be general practitioners
by working and training in a practice). GP
Registrars are an important part of our
current and future medical workforce and
make up about 50% of our GPs. In 2018-19,
14 GP Registrars were placed at Danila
Dilba for training terms ranging from
six to 12 months.
GP Registrars are coordinated by Northern
Territory General Practice Education Ltd,
the regional training provider for GPs in
the Northern Territory. We successfully
advocated for maintenance of the salary
subsidy for GP Registrar training in the NT.
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Training

Student placements
Danila Dilba currently employs five
Aboriginal Health Practitioner trainees
– four who won Danila Dilba sponsored
traineeships in late 2017, and staff member
Amber Dunn-Mellett who enrolled in AHP
training and is being supported in her
studies by Danila Dilba.

Corporate traineeships
Two Indigenous traineeships have been
established in the corporate services
area. These create a new career entry
point for young Indigenous people as part
of our Indigenous career pathways and
employment strategy, and the trainees will
be supported to attain formal qualifications.
Roy Assan joined us as ICT Officer and
Lisa Erlandson as Administration support
officer (trainee).

Student placements
Danila Dilba also facilitates student
placements, and in 2018-19 we accepted
11 medical students, four Aboriginal Health
Practitioner students, three Social Work
placements and structured work placements
for three students completing Certificate II
in Community Services.
Our ongoing relationships with local
institutions including Flinders University,
Charles Darwin University, Batchelor
Institute and Fox Education
and Consultancy also
Danila Dilba is
allow us to access well
developing a
developed resources
Cultural Safety
such as courses and
and Competency
training areas, and
framework that aims
subject matter experts.
to include in-house
cultural awareness
education specifically
designed for Danila
Dilba staff

No. students
Three-month Social Work placements

3

Aboriginal Health Practitioner (AHP) placements

4

Five-week medical student placements

11

Formal learning (ongoing)
Clinic Managers, Diploma of Practice Management

3

Diploma of Community Services

4

Communications, Certificate IV Design

1

Formal learning (completed)
HR, Diploma of Human Resource Management

1

Health Systems, Diploma of Work Health and Safety.

1

Clinic Managers, Diploma of Practice Management.

2

Staff Excellence and awards
DDHS staff recognized for excellence
Over the last year, a number of Danila
Dilba staff were recognised for a range of
achievements and excellence in their fields.
Andrea Roe won
the Danila Dilba
Employee of the
Year Award in 2018,
in recognition of her
dedicated work at
the Palmerston Clinic,
as Team Leader of
the Bagot Clinic
and as Acting Clinic
Manager at Rapid
Creek Clinic. Andrea’s
energy and passion
have a positive
impact on all staff
who work with her.

In 2018,
Continuous Quality
Improvement
Officer Maida
Stewart received a
Churchill Fellowship.
The fellowship will
support Maida to
examine healthy
housing initiatives in
primary prevention of Acute Rheumatic Fever
in New Zealand. Maida will travel to New
Zealand to undertake her fellowship in
early 2020.
In 2018, Casey
Manhire, an Aboriginal
Health Practitioner
at the Palmerston
Clinic, won the 2018
Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander Health
Practitioner (ATSIHP)
New Practitioner
Award at the ATSIHP
Excellence Awards.
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National and NT Social Work awards
In June 2019, several members of
the DDHS Social and Emotional
Wellbeing team were recognised at
the Australian Association of Social
Worker Awards. Social Worker John
Rayner was awarded the Mary Moylan
NT Social Worker of the Year Award
and Caitlin Carne won the Social Work
Student of the Year NT award.
John is enjoying his career at Danila
Dilba and is currently working towards
Medicare Accreditation. He is also
embracing the opportunity to mentor
newly qualified social workers, like
Caitlin. John describes Caitlin as a
‘quiet achiever’ who is building a good
portfolio of clients.

Celebrating milestones
In early 2019, DDHS celebrated the
milestones of 11 members of long serving
staff who have worked with
“It’s the clients
Danila Dilba for 25 years, 20
that keep me
years, 15 years and 10 years.
here; they are
General Practitioner Emma
so diverse, with
Fitzsimons was recognised for
incredible life
17 years of service at DDHS,
stories.”
where she found a fulfilling
and diverse career.

Some of the Danila Dilba staff who were recognised for
their long service in 2019
L-R: David Adams, Chiquita Bin-Saris, Emma Fitzsimmons,
Maida Steward, Margaret O’Brien, Stephenie Johnstone,
Shelley Hampton and Malcolm Darling

“There’s two-way learning here. I might be
passing on knowledge to students, but I’m
also learning all the time about Aboriginal
culture and experiences,” Emma said.

Danila Dilba Social Workers John Rayner and Caitlin
Carne were both recognized at the Australian
Association of Social Workers Awards.

‘On the
spot’ award

“I was a newly qualified GP when I started.
I’m still working as a GP, but the role of GP
here is so varied,” Emma said.
Having gained experience working with
children, renal care, aged care and in women’s
health, Emma enjoys the variety in her role.
She also enjoys the culture of teamwork at
Danila Dilba and working alongside other
health professionals, especially Aboriginal
Health Practitioners.

This is Caitlin’s first one-on-one
counselling role. “It’s pretty much my dream
job,” said Caitlin, who was born and raised in
Darwin. “I’ve always wanted to work with
my people and make a difference within my
own community,” she said.

This award, implemented in
October 2018, gives immediate
recognition to staff who go
above and beyond their usual
responsibilities and rewards
them with a $150
gift voucher.
Dr Nathan Zwek and Dr Fiona McDonald, two of
Danila Dilba’s longest standing GPs, were also
recognised for their long-term contribution.

“It’s the clients that keep me here; they are
so diverse, with incredible life stories. So
many have complex health needs, so the
work is always interesting and challenging.”
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This diagram illustrates potential career
pathways in Danila Dilba Health Service.
While we endeavour to support all our
staff in their professional development,
Danila Dilba reserves the right to make
all appointments to individual positions.
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Improving health
and wellbeing
across the
life course

2.1 Our service model

Integrated

SERVICES

As Danila Dilba matures as an organisation,
we are reaching a stage where many clients have known
us all their lives – they have grown up with us, and now
have families of their own.

2. INTEGRATED SERVICES

2

2017-2022
Strategic Priority 1

2017-2022
Strategic Priority 3
Strengthening
partnerships and
relationships

2017-2022
Strategic Priority 4
Achieving continuous
improvement and
integration of
services

The Danila Dilba service model is
based on these key principles:
• knowing our clients
• knowing their health
• working with our clients to
improve their health.

56%

We aim to meet our clients’ needs at
every stage of life – providing ‘care across
the life course’ and services for clients
where they need them – at Danila Dilba
where possible. We refer to these as
integrated services, or ‘a one stop shop’.
The client journey diagram on the next
page shows the Danila Dilba client health
journey from the first clinic visit, how
we get to know our clients’ health and
when they are referred on to a specialist
service or other support they might
need – whether that is a medical
specialist, a midwife, a counsellor or
help to quit smoking.

We aim to
meet our clients’
needs at every
stage of life –
providing
‘care across the
life course’
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One of the most important steps in
getting to know our clients’ health so
we can work with people to improve
their health is to encourage annual
health checks.

Closing the Gap national target 2023 69%

Completed child health checks
57%

57%
48%

43%

41%
38%
33%
2015-16

0 – 4 years
2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

Completed adult health checks

2020-21

2021-22

2023

Closing the Gap national target 2023 63%

60%

45%
38%

47%

46%

41%
36%

32%
2015-16

15 – 54 years
2016-17

2017-18

Completed adult health checks

2015-16

Registered Nurse,
Taylor Matthews
providing a health
check at the
Darwin clinic.

2021-22

2023

Closing the Gap national target 2023 74%

73%

51%

55 plus years

46%
2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

Current smokers
56%

2020-21

56%
47%

2015-16

2019-20

61%

57%

42%

2018-19

56%

2016-17

56%

2017-18

55%

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2023

A Danila Dilba health check is
comprehensive and can identify
childhood developmental
problems, risk factors for disease
or the presence of disease.
Overall the percentage of our
regular clients who had a health
check in the previous year has
increased. Danila Dilba is on
track to meet national Closing
the Gap targets for 2023, and
have already nearly met the
targets for health checks for
over 15s and over 55s.
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2.2 Families, babies and child health
Update Exit to
care plan PHC
Report
back

The Australian Nurse Family Partnership
Program (ANFPP) is a Commonwealth
Government home visiting program,
supporting women who are pregnant with
an Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander
child. It helps women look after their own
and their baby’s health before birth and for
the first two years after birth.

Florence Morcom, Nurse Supervisor
Review Care Plan
and ﬁnalise
annual care cycles

GP Plan
and Team Care,
Mental Health Plan or
Existing care Plan

Had screen in last 5 years

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

1279

1411

1602

1663

Cervical screening tests are important for women aged 25-74 to

Fifty one women were recruited into the
ANFPP in 2018-19. Most referrals to the
program come from Danila Dilba clinics.

Florence Morcom brings a wealth of knowledge,
experience and compassion to her role at Danila
Dilba, nurturing mothers and babies.
Florence – or Flo as she’s known – joined the
Danila Dilba Australian Nurse Family Partnership
Program (ANFPP) in early 2019 as Nurse Supervisor.

Work
with client
to improve
health

“The ANPFF Program found me in a way. The
job advertisement popped up in my email. I was
immediately drawn to the role but put off applying
as I was living in Saudi Arabia. The email reminders
kept coming so I took it as a sign to submit
an application.”
From the moment she started, Flo hit the ground
running with home visits and supporting clients.
“I love doing home visits, bonding with the
mothers and babies.”
Flo spent her younger years on Melville Island, and
completed her schooling in Adelaide. As a young
adult, she found a passion for nursing and joined
the Royal Australian Army Nursing Corporation.
Building a career as a registered nurse, Flo
went into midwifery and then completed her
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Women’s health – cervical screening

prevent cervical cancer. Cervical screening has replaced the twoDanila Dilba joined the ANFPP in 2018 and
yearly ‘Pap smear’ test and has been shown to be more effective.
This test can now safely be done every five years.
has located the program at the Malak Clinic.
Our ANFPP program employees are all
Aboriginal women, making it the only ANFPP
team in Australia to have an all-Indigenous team.

• Allied health
• Specialist referral

Services

Exit to
PHC

• Social and family history
• Allergies and alerts

Clinician

Chronic
illness?

• Care coordination
or Indigenous
Outreach Workers
• ANFPP
• SEWB
• AOD and
Tackling Tobacco

Interventions to
support health goals

Risk
factors
present?

RN/AHP follow up

DDHS Midwife Care

Health check

Acute health needs

Pregnancy

• Check address, phone, medicare,
emergency contact
• PIP registration
• Check PRODA

Existing client

New client

RECEPTIONIST

• Client enrolment and consent
• Check address, phone, Medicare,
emergency contact
• PIP registration
• Check PRODA

• Summary up to date
• Medication up to date
• Immunisations up to date
• Recalls and reminders

Emergency Department

REFER TO INTERNAL
OR EXTERNAL SERVICES

KNOW YOUR
CLIENT’S HEALTH
KNOW YOUR CLIENT

Danila Dilba Health Service Client Journey

Entry

MULTIDISCIPLINARY
SERVICES

Australian Nurse Family Partnerships

Florence Morcom,
Australian Nurse
Family Partnership
Program Nurse
Supervisor

studies at the Royal Hobart Hospital to work in the
Intensive Care Unit (ICU), specialising in critical care.
This ignited a newfound passion and she worked in
critical care for 29 years as a nurse, then a further
15 years in critical care management.
Flo’s life commitments led her to Tasmania,
Melbourne and then across the world to Saudi
Arabia where she lived and worked in critical care
for over 20 years. In this period of her life she
found herself playing a supporting role with other
expatriates of different cultural backgrounds,
making a new life for themselves.
“My biggest life lesson from this experience
was about compassion,” she said.
Family circumstances finally brought Flo back to
her Territory home.
“Giving back to my community and my people
has been the ultimate blessing,” Flo said.
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Paediatric care

In early 2018, the ANFPP team started
working with Julia* and her partner.
Although they were pregnant with their first
child, Julia had an existing child she’d had at
a young age. Through circumstances beyond
her control as a minor, Julia and child came
to the attention of Territory Families. They
were placed into the care system and were
separated.

The ANFPP team: Caitlin McGuire, Kay Gehan,
Jannaya Wall, Florence Morcom, Tianee Measures,
Samantha Rourke and Karen Geer

supporting them through this complex
process which involved negotiations with
Territory Families and the child’s school.
Julia was reunited with her child in
December 2018 and now she lives with
her child, partner and their toddler. With
the support of the ANFPP team, they are
now settled into everyday family life with
all its daily challenges and have stable
accommodation and employment.

Once the ANFPP team started working with
Julia and her partner and the trust and
rapport was formed, Julia opened up about
the layers of her history and about her child
in the care system. This formation of trust
led to Julia and her partner fully committing
to the ANFP program and they began to
access healthcare services at the Danila
Dilba clinic which included counselling and
emotional support. Julia and her partner
expressed a strong desire for reunification
with Julia’s first child.

“If you hadn’t been involved we don’t know
where we would be, thank you so much,”
Julia said.
The ANFPP team is very proud of Julia’s
achievements. Julia and her family continue
to receive regular visits from their ANFPP
Family Partnership Worker and Nurse
Home Visitor.

Recognising this as one of the keys
to improving Julia and her family’s
wellbeing, the ANFPP team committed to

*name has been changed
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In partnership with TEHS, we agreed the
priority is to provide an assessment and
planning clinic for children with behavioural
and development problems. Some children
with special development needs need
support to access help with speech,
behaviour and learning. Health checks
often provide the first step to assessing
the problems.

The assessment process can be complex
for children and families and may involve
multiple assessments and several providers,
including schools. Support provided by the
local clinic and by the ABCD clinic can be a
great help to families during this challenging
process.
Children who need to see a specialist but do
not have learning and behaviour problems
will be seen at Royal Darwin Hospital or
Palmerston Regional Hospital. Families
and carers with questions about ongoing
specialist services can make an appointment
at their local clinic and their GP will be able
to help.

‘Consistency in care and understanding
my needs’

Pauline Gaykamangu is from the remote island
of Milingimbi, off the Arnhem Land coast, and
has been a regular client for three years.

Pauline is a client in the Australian Nurse
Family Partnerships program (ANFPP),
where she and her family are supported
to attend medical appointments as well
as friendly ‘meet and greet’ groups where
other mums and expecting mums come
together to share stories, play with the
children and enjoy a pamper session.

In 2014 we established our own paediatric
specialist service at the Palmerston clinic in
partnership with the Royal Darwin Hospital
(RDH), which hosted visiting registrars and
specialists. By 2018, we recorded a 26
percent increase in paediatric specialist
referrals, and it became clear that our
paediatric clinic needed to be reviewed to
develop a more sustainable service model.

We have now established
an ABCD (Assessment
of Behaviour and Child
Development) clinic to
support families and children
with learning, behavioural
and development issues
through an assessment
and management planning
process.

Client Story –
Eddie Obara

Client profile –
Pauline Gaykamangu and family

Pauline’s health journey began with a
health check and then pregnancy support
through the midwifery service.

Over the last few years, Danila Dilba
has worked in partnership with the Top
End Health Service (TEHS) paediatric
department to improve specialist services
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
children in the Greater Darwin region.

2. INTEGRATED SERVICES

ANFPP client profile

Pauline appreciates the support Danila Dilba
provides to her and her family. L-R Baby Ashley,
Alfred and Pauline.

Pauline appreciates the support Danila
Dilba provides to her and her family.
“Midwife Jessica, she is great. Danila Dilba
is a good place, it is helpful. I also like the
Deadly Choices shirts – they are great! All
my family have had a health check and
they all have Deadly Choices.”

Eddie has lived in Darwin for 13 years and
has been a regular at Danila Dilba for over
10 years. The Darwin Clinic is Eddie’s usual
clinic; he has also visited the Rapid Creek
clinic and finds it to be lovely.
Eddie says consistent care is important. He
has developed a good rapport with Danila
Dilba’s newest general practitioners and
believes that consistency in care is very
important to good health.
“I have family that work at Danila, and my
doctors are good. They are good value and

Eddie appreciates the support
Danila Dilba provides.

I noticed that there is consistence in care
if you continue to see the same doctor,
which is good.
“Danila Dilba understands my needs! I like
being able to call up in the morning to book
the spare appointments at 8.30 or 9.00. If
you have an emergency but don’t need to go
to the hospital, it’s good being able to book
that appointment in the morning.”
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Chronic disease plans

Clients who have complicated care needs
need extra support to get to the stage where
they can manage their health again. Care
coordinators and support workers provide
outreach care from our clinics and a number
of different specialists also visit at Danila
Dilba clinics to make it easier for our clients
to access these services.

Chronic disease

Diabetes

Clients with Chronic
Heart Disease on a plan

A significant proportion of Danila
Dilba clients have a chronic disease
and have complex care needs. Some
of our younger clients have diabetes
or cardiovascular disease, and a high
proportion (nearly half) of our older
clients over 55 have diabetes.

63%

Clients with Diabetes
with good sugar control*

59%

64%

61%
55%

2015-16

One of the most successful initiatives for
clients who have chronic disease is the
regular exercise program held weekly at
Jingili Water Gardens. This is well attended,
and helps people not only take better
control of their physical health, but provides
companionship and education sessions on
maintaining health. The emphasis in Danila
Dilba’s approach is on managing people,
rather than focusing on managing
the disease.

2016-17
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2.3 Chronic disease

2017-18

NATIONAL KPI
2018-19

2018-19

45%
2015-16
45%
2015-16

48%

48%

6384

Percentage of regular clients
15 years plus with Diabetes

47%

2016-17
Clients with2017-18
Diabetes

44%
2018-19

61%

Clients with Diabetes
54%
53%

62%
61%

63%

NATIONAL KPI
2018-19

61%
55%

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2018-19

with good blood pressure50%

61%
2015-16

2016-17
53%

70%

70%

Percentage of regular clients
55 years plus with Diabetes

58%
63%

50%

52%

68%

68%

Clients with Diabetes also
with a kidney function test
71%

Total regular clients over
15 years of age

2018-19

with a kidney function test

70%

Total regular clients over
55 years of age

2017-18
54%

These charts show two measures that tells us how
well clients with diabetes are. Despite an increase
in the number of Danila Dilba clients diagnosed
2015-16
2017-18with good2018-19
with
diabetes, the2016-17
proportion of clients
Clients
withremains
Diabetes
also
sugar and blood pressure
control
steady.

71%

Percentage of regular clients
15 years plus with Cardiovascular Disease

44%

Clients with Diabetes
with good 2017-18
sugar control*
2016-17
2018-19

with good blood pressure

Clients with Type II
Diabetes on a plan

Clients with Type II Diabetes and
Chronic Heart Disease on a plan

TOTAL

47%

68%

68%

2015-16
58%

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

NATIONAL KPI
2018-19

TOTAL

11%

674
21%

These charts show the percentage of Danila Dilba clients
with specific chronic conditions as a percentage of
regular clients over 15 years of age.

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

1421

1366
718

2015-16

47%

Chronic Disease Management Plans are plans that the client,
their GPs, nurse and Aboriginal Health Practitioner put together
if the client has a chronic disease.
We are picking up more people who have chronic disease, and
the number of our clients with diabetes has doubled in
the past five years.

Diabetes is more common as people get older.
Regular clients are those who used our services at least
three times in the past two years.
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2.4 Allied health and specialist
services at Danila Dilba
Our service design is to provide services to people close to
their home, and our focus is on prevention and management of
people who have chronic disease.
We know that people like to see specialists
in a Danila Dilba clinic instead of going
somewhere else, so we bring allied health
and medical specialists into our clinics as part
of delivering integrated care.

a physiotherapist. We also have relationships
with other allied health providers like
optometrists and podiatrists. We work with
external providers who provide culturally
safe and bulk billed services.

Danila Dilba employs some allied health staff
directly – a diabetes educator, social and
emotional wellbeing counsellors and a social
worker – and we contract services from

We aim to strengthen the relationship
between providers and local clinics
where we can. A survey of allied health
providers told us they are satisfied with
their relationships with Danila Dilba and
with our clients.
Specialist services work best in Danila Dilba
when they support our GPs to provide a high
level care and advise on the management
of very complex cases. Over the years we
have developed strong relationships with
a range of specialist providers.

Dr Paul Lawton is a nephrologist who works
with our chronic kidney disease support
staff. ‘Dr Kanga’, (Associate Professor
Nadarajah Kangaharan) visits to see cardiac
clients and will always answer GP questions.
Professor Louise Maple Brown, Head of
the Department of Endocrinology at Royal
Darwin Hospital, is our expert in diabetes
and people with complicated diabetes
and Dr Angela Titmus is part of the youth
diabetes clinic. Dr Sujatha Thomas supports
our Collaborative Midwife Model of Care.

Specialist clinics

Allied health and specialist
services review
As part of Danila Dilba’s commitment
to continuous quality improvement and
innovation, this year we reviewed access
to allied health and specialist services
through DDHS clinics. We wanted to make
sure that we provide the best care and use
our resources efficiently.
The review was led by Sharni Cardona
who chaired a review group that included
Della Mayo, Corinne Swan, Sarah Giles
and Phillipa Cotter.
The review group looked at the services
needed by our clients and how best to
deliver them in our service model. They also
considered costs and funding models along
with processes and sustainability of the
models. And, importantly, the review looked
at quality, cultural safety and client safety.
The approach taken by the review was based
on continuous quality improvement – a ‘fix
it as you go’ approach where changes were
implemented along the way if the direction
we needed to go was clear, while bigger
issues were addressed in recommendations.
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Speciality Type
Diabetes Educator

Registered Nurse, Taylor Matthew preparing
for a health check at Darwin Clinic

The results of the review will guide the
development of these services into
the future.

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19
1032

1504

1476

952

Obstetrician

86

106

105

136

Optometrist

112

81

152

45

Paediatrician

251

274

449

310

Physiotherapist

243

335

411

692

Specialist Medical Practitioner

320

339

308

194

Total

2044

2639

2901

2329

Locating specialist
services at Danila
Dilba clinics makes
it easier for our
clients to have their
conditions managed.
This table shows the
number of clients
who saw a specialist
in 2018-19.

Some immediate benefits have been:
completion of the service design for the
ABCD clinic (see story on page 53);
continuation of successful activities like
the chronic disease physical activity groups,
a focus on data capture and analysis;
continuation of specialist services while
working on improvements; and a Medicare
funding model for podiatry.
The review also made longer term
recommendations on bigger issues like
funding models, new service designs and
agreements, service planning, and
improved referral pathways.
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2.5 Whole of service clinic support – Pharmacy
The Danila Dilba pharmacy service gives ‘whole of service’
support to clinic staff and clients, providing subsidised medicines,
home medicine reviews, chronic disease support, input to
prescribing practice and quality improvement.
The pharmacy service helps clients with
complex health needs to understand their
prescribed medicines and follow their
management plan, and works to ensure
clients have access to quality medicines and
that their management plans are regularly
reviewed.
Over the last year, we focused on improving
the quality of our pharmacy service to clients
- including an evaluation of our prescribing
practices and updating policies.
Danila Dilba understands the challenges our
clients might have in paying for medicines,
so we subsidise the cost of medications.
Decisions about subsidies and which
medicines are included are guided by our
Medicines Review Committee. In 2018-19,
Danila Dilba spent $358,958 on pharmacy
services. About 50 per cent of these costs
were spent on medications supplied to
our clinics.
Many clients are also supported by the
Closing the Gap prescription program (CTG),
a national measure to improve Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander people’s access to
medicines. Clients are registered through
their clinics and are then eligible for further
price reductions beyond the standard
Pharmaceutical Benefit Scheme (PBS)
rates. In many cases the medicines will
cost nothing to the client. This year, nearly
48,000 prescriptions were issued, and
about 70% of these were issued under
the CTG scheme.
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Evaluating prescribing practices improves
health outcomes and saves costs

Prescriptions issued, including prescriptions
issued under the Closing the Gap
(CTG) program
45066

47836

39108

TOTAL
CTG

33548
25470

2015-16

31323

34102

27700

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

Over the past four years there has been steady growth both
in CGT prescriptions and the overall number of prescriptions
issued, reflecting the establishment of new clinics, the
increase in the number of clients and better client care.

In 2018-19, Danila Dilba participated in the
Integrating Pharmacists within Aboriginal
Community Controlled Health Services (IPAC)
project, which is looking at whether locating
pharmacists in Aboriginal Community
Controlled Health Services (ACCHSs) will
improve chronic disease management (see
more about this in section 3, page 68).
Danila Dilba’s pharmacy service is also
reviewing clients’ medication in the comfort
of their homes, with 231 home medicines
reviews (HMRs) conducted in 2018-19. This
is a significant increase on the previous
year’s total of 62. In previous years these
services have been provided by pharmacists
from our contracted pharmacies and the
increase in the number of HMRs this year is
due to the in-house HMR services provided
by our IPAC pharmacists.

Based on early studies, Vitamin D has
been widely used in the past to treat
osteoporosis and prevent fractures.
However, more recent, well-designed
studies show less benefit than expected,
especially where we don’t know if the
client has low vitamin D. These studies
also suggest that low vitamin D is a
marker of ill health.
As part of our approach to continuous
improvement of services, Danila Dilba
conducted an evaluation of our Vitamin
D prescribing practices this year. The
evaluation found that a large number
of Danila Dilba clients were prescribed
vitamin D supplements.
Since the evaluation, we have changed
our approach and implemented guidelines
to test clients for vitamin D levels before
prescribing supplements. We found that
70% of clients who had been prescribed
vitamin D supplements did not need them.
Medical staff talked to clients about the
new guidelines and explained why their
medication had changed.
The new approach has important benefits
for clients. For many, it means they no
longer have to take medication they don’t
need, and even more important, if a

Pictured here at Palmerston clinic pharmacy:
Aboriginal Health Practitioner Trainees
Sarah Quong and Darren Braun.

client is found to have In 2018-19
a low vitamin D level,
Danila Dilba
the doctor can look
spent $358,958
for underlying health
on pharmacy
problems. For Danila
services,
Dilba, this approach is and issued
also very cost-effective about 48,000
as the money saved by prescriptions.
reducing unnecessary
medication can be used for other
important health services.
A follow up evaluation will be conducted
to assess improvement in prescribing
practices.
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2.6 Personal support services
As part of our integrated service model, Danila Dilba provides
a range of personal support services, including counselling and
mental health services for all ages, and support for clients
who have concerns about alcohol or other drugs,
or want to stop smoking.

Danila Dilba
and the Darwin
Indigenous
Men’s Service
worked together
to organise the
men’s camps for
health, wellbeing
and social
inclusion.

Social and emotional wellbeing services
Our Social and Emotional Wellbeing
(SEWB) program has grown significantly
over the last year and now has 15 staff,
making it one of the largest mental health
teams in Darwin.
The team provides general counselling,
mental health nursing and child-appropriate
services across all of our clinic sites and
in outreach and group therapy settings
in partnership with other community
organisations.
DDHS clients can access the service with a
GP referral from one of the clinics. Reflecting
growth in the demand for counselling and
wellbeing services, the team is now receiving
about 100 referrals a month.
In 2018-19, the SEWB team established a
position for a mental health nurse which has
expanded our capacity to carry out mental
health assessments and connect clients with
the right mental health support services.
The SEWB program is also increasing its
capacity to address the social and emotional
needs of young clients. In May 2019,
we started delivering specialist services
including child centred play therapy, which
involves working with the child and their
parents. We are currently delivering play
therapy at Bagot Community clinic and
Malak clinic. Play therapy is the preferred
approach as children under 11 don’t have
the language skills or brain development
needed for abstract thinking and cognitive
behavioural therapy.
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Healing camps for men’s health and wellbeing

Mental Health Social Worker, Nicole Jacobson,
an expert in child play therapy, is photographed here at
the newly refurbished play area at the Bagot clinic.

When working with pre-teens and teens,
the SEWB program uses a mixture of
techniques that are responsive to their
needs including directive play therapy, art
therapy, narrative and cognitive behavioural
therapy. We work with complex cases to
ensure children and young people are being
supported within their school environment
and accessing specialist care if needed.

National Redress Support Service
The National Redress Scheme was developed
in response to the Royal Commission into
Institutional Responses to Child Sexual Abuse.
Danila Dilba has been selected as the support
contact in the Darwin and Top End region.
Our role is to provide counselling and support
to people who were sexually abused as children
and help eligible individuals make a claim
for compensation.

As part of our commitment to men’s health,
two members of the Community Services
team, Brian Long and Joseph Fitz, worked
with the Darwin Indigenous Men’s Service
(DIMS) to deliver a men’s camp at Gunn
Point in May 2019.
This was the second camp this year as part
of our ongoing partnership with DIMS to
improve men’s health, wellbeing and
social inclusion.
Nine men from across the Northern Territory
come together at the camp to connect in a
supportive, safe and natural environment.
One of the Traditional Owners of the region
welcomed the camp participants to country
and asked the ancestors for their protection
for the duration of
the camp.

“I really enjoyed the spear making workshop
and sharing stories about the cultural history
of the area,” said one of the participants.
“It was a powerful experience.
Not only was it good for the
client but it was good for me too,
healing both ways,” said AOD
Community Services Support
Worker, Brian Long.

“We had a good
time out there,
seeing people
reflecting on life.

“We had a good time out there, seeing
people reflecting on life. It was spiritual
healing back on country.”
The sense of comfort and community
helped to create a healing experience
where the men felt safe to relax and
reflect on their lives.

A sense of togetherness and
community was created by
respecting differences within the
group, working as a team, doing
simple things together like fishing,
collecting firewood and sharing
cultural knowledge and stories.
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Seniors and Aged Care

The Alcohol and Other Drugs (AOD) team
works with clients in most clinics, offering
support to access treatment and help clients
to prevent relapses.

Danila Dilba provides primary health care to
the majority of Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander aged care clients in Darwin and
Palmerston across three residential aged
care facilities.

Over the last few years the team has also
started to see clients who want support to
quit smoking. Clients are referred by doctors,
clinicians or by self-referral and the team
provide tobacco quit information and
quit support.
Our AOD team takes the approach of
treating the whole person where clients
have AOD issues, as issues of mental health,
social isolation or other underlying causes
need to be addressed as well to help clients
move forward. Our male staff are working
in partnership with the Darwin Indigenous
Men’s Service (DIMS) to support vulnerable
Indigenous men to improve their health
and wellbeing.
Approaches include therapeutic yarning
circles, healing camps and groups
which bring men together to connect,
share knowledge and stories and build
relationships in a safe space. The partnership
with DIMS also provides a beneficial referral
pathway for clients to access our AOD
program.
The AOD After Care service work with clients
as they finish their rehabilitation treatment,
offering ongoing support to prevent
the possibility of relapse. The program
is currently building partnerships with
rehabilitation services throughout Darwin.

One of these, the Juninga Centre, is a
nursing home for Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander residents and is managed by
Australian Rural and Remote Community
Services (ARRCS).
Danila Dilba’s service to residential clients
involves a GP and an Aboriginal Health
Practitioner working together to provide
culturally appropriate service. Over the last
few years we have increased these visiting
services from one day to three days per
week. We currently look after about 50 aged
care clients. More than half or these are
from remote areas and have relocated due
to high care needs, and a high proportion –
again more than half – have been diagnosed
with dementia and are in care in Darwin as
their families have no other option available
to them.
Our outreach services include spending time
with the client, health checks, management
of acute and chronic conditions, care
coordination, immunisations, medication
management and review, family support and
advanced personal planning and advocacy
where appropriate.
Sometimes these visits are the only
contact residents have with a non-resident
Aboriginal person between family visits.
In October 2018, the Commonwealth
Government established a Royal Commission
into Aged Care Quality and Safety. In
preparation for hearings in Darwin late
in 2019, Danila Dilba is developing a
submission and working to support one
of our aged care clients to make a witness
statement to the Royal Commission (see
more on page 73).
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Alcohol and Other Drugs

Client profile –
Tamara Noakes and family
Danila Dilba has been a family clinic for
Tamara since childhood, and today Tamara is
still a regular client and attends the clinic with
her small family.
“I like all the people that work at Danila Dilba.
They always got happy smiley faces, good bubbly
personality to be around, and they are great
people and a great service.”
Tamara has grown up with the Danila Dilba
Health Service and has seen Danila Dilba
through its expansion of services and clinics.
“I noticed with Danila Dilba, they do take your
enquiries quite seriously. It’s not like they say,
‘this is what’s wrong with you’. They look into
depth, and ask like, ‘do you have any other
symptoms, or do you have any other question
or inquiries?’

Danila Danila is a family clinic for Tamara and
her family. L- R Greg, Samuel, John Xavia and Tamara.

They want to make sure you are ok; you feel
they genuinely want to help you.
“The best thing I like about Danila Dilba is they
treat you as, like, family. When you walk through
the door you feel welcomed, you feel accepted,
not just like ‘here, go sign a piece of paper and
take a seat’.
It’s ‘Hi, how are you? What name?’
And you go on from there.”

Client profile –
Stuart Nethercott
Stuart Nethercott has a long connection with
Danila Dilba Health Service. He completed
his training with Danila Dilba as an Aboriginal
Health Practitioner in the early 90’s. Today,
Stuart is a regular client.

Joshua and Stuart Nethercott

Stuart understands how important it is to
have a trusting rapport with clients and he is
grateful he has this relationship with his general
practitioners (GPs) at his local Danila Dilba clinic.

Stuart considers Danila Dilba to be his family
clinic. He says it’s a friendly atmosphere and
he knows the staff pretty well, and some staff
he actually graduated with.

“There are two doctors that know my history,
and they are pretty good doctors. My doctor,
she understands, you know, when male things
are happening and all that sort of stuff – a male
doctor is not always available,” Stuart said.

“Why I like Danila Dilba is because there’re
friendly, not like other clinics. They don’t call
you as a number. I have a joke with the
staff here.”

“My female doctor, she is culturally appropriate,
she always asks first, she is very good that way.
She is very approachable, all the doctors are.”

Stuart’s son Joshua Nethercott agrees:
“Danila Dilba is very friendly. They are nice, you
can talk to them, have a friendly conversation,
you don’t have to wait for hours.”
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2017-2022
Strategic Priority 3
Strengthening
partnerships and
relationships

Research, Advocacy and

PARTNERSHIPS

As an Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service,
Danila Dilba has a responsibility to our members and to
the broader Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
community to promote, contribute to, and advocate for
best practice in policy and practice in health services and
other issues for the benefit of the community and
individuals’ health and wellbeing.
Danila Dilba is also an active and valued
partner in health research. We are
approached by many researchers each
year seeking our participation in research
projects large and small.

Establish
partnerships
to conduct
research to fill
knowledge
gaps

3. RESEARCH, ADVOCACY AND PARTNERSHIPS
PARTNERSHIPS

3

Danila Dilba has also formed strategic
partnerships to leverage better service
delivery by working with organisations
that can contribute their expertise and
together strengthen our advocacy.

3.1 H
 ealth research
Danila Dilba is committed to evidence-based practice
and to research that helps improve health and demonstrates
respect for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.
We support important research and
consider all requests to participate in
research projects. While important, we
take a strategic and critical approach to
these requests to weigh the potential
benefits against the costs of participating.

Danila Dilba
supports
important research
and advocates
for our
community.
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Participating in research does make
additional work for staff and takes up
staff time and other resources. We also
need to consider possible impacts on our
clients.
We follow our research policy and
consider the likely benefit to our clients,
to Aboriginal people generally, the
resource implications for Danila Dilba,
how important the issue is and whether

Aboriginal people have been involved in
designing and carrying out the research.
We also look at study design, data
sovereignty and research translation.
In early 2019 Danila Dilba reached a
point where it was clear we were unable
to take on any further research activities.
In February 2019, the Board approved
a six-month moratorium on research
partnerships. This was to re-set the
agenda with researchers and review our
capacity to manage the volume
of work.
The key research projects in which we
participated in 2018-19 are outlined in
the table on page 66.

Danila Dilba Health Service ANNUAL REPORT 2018–2019

page 65

Project

Lead partner/s

Project description

Improving wellbeing for young people
with Rheumatic Heart Disease

NIMAC

South Australian Health
and Medical Research
Institute (SAHMRI)

Novel Interventions to Address
Methamphetamine use in Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander Communities
(NIMAC) study – phase 3 trial of online
or mobile phone Cognitive Behavioural
Therapy (CBT) app.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
people in northern and central Australia
suffer from the world’s highest rates
of Acute Rheumatic Fever (ARF) and
Rheumatic Heart Disease (RHD).

PANDORA 2

Menzies NT

Research concerning young Aboriginal
people aged <25 years, to evaluate a
service model and client experience.
Danila Dilba’s Diabetes Educator is a
principal investigator.

Rheumatic Heart
Disease peer support

SAHMRI, Rheumatic
Heart Disease (RHD)
Australia, Telethon Kids
Institute

Danila Dilba staff undertook an action
research project, supported by an
experienced qualitative researcher, that
focussed on peer support for children
with RHD. Funding is sought for a
‘proof of concept’ trial to integrate the
model into our service design.

Integrating Pharmacists within
Aboriginal Community Controlled
Health Services to improve chronic
disease management (IPAC)

James Cook University,
NACCHO and
Pharmaceutical
Society of Australia

The IPAC project is looking at whether
incorporating practice pharmacists into
Aboriginal Community Controlled Health
Services (ACCHSs) will improve chronic
disease management.

SISTAQUIT

UNSW

Aims to improve the smoking cessation
assistance skills of staff working with
pregnant women and GP confidence in
using nicotine replacement. Danila Dilba
midwives and our Tackling Indigenous
Smoking, clinic and ANFPP staff are
involved in this project.

Mayi Kuwayu

Australian National
University

Mayi Kuwayu, the National Study of
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
Wellbeing, is a comprehensive longitudinal
study into how culture impacts upon or
benefits health and wellbeing.

PATCHES Foetal Alcohol Spectrum
Disorder (FASD)

PATCHES Paediatrics WA

The third year of a service model study
to build an integrated mixed public-private
model for FASD assessment.

Decolonising Practice in Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander Primary
Health Care

Flinders University SA,
Southgate Institute for
Health, Society, and Equity

Early stages of five-year service model
study on actions and strategies needed
to address negative health effects of
ongoing colonisation.

Impact and cost of short-term
staffing in NT Aboriginal communitycontrolled health services

Flinders University, NT

Workforce study of the impact of
staff turnover on health services and
client health.
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In the Northern Territory, young
Indigenous Australians are up to 122
times more likely to have RHD than nonIndigenous young people. There is a welldocumented unmet need to provide more
information and support to Aboriginal
people with these conditions in the NT.
In 2018, Danila Dilba became involved in
a research project which aims to better
understand and address the needs of
young people living with RHD.
We partnered with the Telethon Kids
Institute and the South Australian Health
and Medical Research Institute (SAHMRI)
to design and trial a peer support
program for young people living with
RHD in Darwin.
Peer support programs for other chronic
conditions have demonstrated many

benefits including high levels of participant
satisfaction, improved social and
emotional wellbeing and reducing patient
care time required by health professionals.

3. RESEARCH, ADVOCACY AND PARTNERSHIPS
PARTNERSHIPS

Partnerships in health research 2018-19

Help to understand the disease, its
treatment and prevention, and other
health promotion activities are important
to support people to live with RHD and
manage their condition. Peer support can
help people develop these skills including
prevention and management, treatment
regimens, social and emotional support
and navigating health care systems.
In total, five young people living with RHD
participated in the pilot program, including
three girls and two boys, aged between
11 and 14 years old. Each session included
educational components, emotional
support activities and cooperative play.
Quantitative data showed a 92 per cent
participant satisfaction rate. This pilot has
demonstrated the need for an ongoing
program in the Darwin area for young
people aged 11-17 who are living
with RHD.

The images above show how children’s experience of living with
RHD affects their school and after school activities.
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3.2 Collaboration and partnership

IPAC – practice-based
pharmacy research project

As Danila Dilba expands its footprint and the reach and
range of its services, partnerships and collaborations become
increasingly important to improve our services.

The IPAC project – Integrating Pharmacists
within Aboriginal Community Controlled
Health Services (ACCHSs) to improve
chronic disease management – is looking
at whether incorporating practice
pharmacists into clinics will benefit clients
who have chronic disease.
The project started in August 2018 and is
due to finish in October 2019. Seventeen
ACCHSs across the Northern Territory,
Queensland and Victoria are taking part in
the project, which aims to find out whether
having a registered non-dispensing practice
pharmacist included in the primary health
care team can improve the quality of care
for clients.
In other similar studies, inclusion of
pharmacists in the primary healthcare
team has been shown to reduce
medication related problems and
increase client understanding and ability
to follow their medication plan. It has
also improved quality use of medicines
and clinical outcomes, resulting in fewer
hospitalisations.

Strengthening
partnerships and
relationships

Pharmacist, Hazel Hoult and Aboriginal Health Practitioner,
Cynthia Brock discussing medication in clinic

Some are formal partnerships based on a
memorandum of understanding, others take
a practical approach to delivering services
together, and some are partnerships for
policy and advocacy.

Formal partnerships
Two IPAC pharmacists are working
across all Danila Dilba clinics to conduct
medication reviews and to educate clients
about their medications.
“Reviewing client medications regularly and
using the right language to ensure they
understand their medication protocol is
an important part of this project” said
pharmacist Angela Madden.
Feedback about this new service has been
positive, and input from pharmacists about
medicine management has been valued by
both clients and staff.

During 2018-19 Danila Dilba worked
in partnership across a range of policy,
advocacy and program issues. Throughout
the year we worked closely with partners
on issues such as:
• advocating for reforms to legislation
in youth justice and child protection
alongside Aboriginal AMSANT, APONT,
legal services and other service providers,
• leading a group of relevant service
providers in partnership with the
Foundation for Alcohol Research and
Education to object to the application for
a Dan Murphy store on Bagot Road,
• joining with a group of interested
organisations to advocate and
formulate positions in relation to urban
homelessness in Darwin,
• working with other Aboriginal controlled
organisations in Darwin and Palmerston
towards a formal partnership for joint
advocacy,
• a health justice partnership with NT Legal
Aid Commission.

Service delivery and
community partnerships

Develop and
maintain formal and
informal alliances to
address the social
determinants of
health

3. RESEARCH, ADVOCACY AND PARTNERSHIPS
PARTNERSHIPS

2017-2022
Strategic Priority 3

Danila Dilba has continued to work in
multiple partnerships in service delivery to
make sure our clients get the best possible
care and services. During 2018-19, the
following partnerships were especially
important:
• visiting specialists from the Royal Darwin
Hospital provided clinics at Danila Dilba
so that clients have easy access to these
services,
• private allied health providers such as
optometry delivered services at
Danila Dilba,
• working partnerships between the Youth
Social Support Program we provide at
Don Dale Youth Detention Centre and
other service providers for the young
people included NAAJA throughcare,
the Department of Education, Territory
Families case management staff, the Top
End Health Service, Hoops for Health and
Balanced Choices,
• at community level, the Deadly Choices
Program partnered with schools, with
the Stars Foundation and with Clontarf
to deliver health education and health
checks to young people across Darwin
and Palmerston.

More information about policy and advocacy
activity is in Section 3.3.
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Danila Dilba and NT Legal Aid Commission
(NTLAC) started a health justice
partnership in 2016 to assist Danila Dilba
clients to get better access to legal help
if they need it.

In 2018-19 this service expanded,
providing lawyer appointments at Rapid
Creek clinic in addition to services at
Darwin clinic, Palmerston and Malak,
and into new areas of collaboration
between our organisations.
NTLAC provided training to doctors at
Danila Dilba about the National Disability
Insurance Scheme and how to make
effective referrals so our clients can get
the disability services they need.
Most exciting has been the development
of a policy and advocacy partnership and
mutual learning about working across
disciplines in health and law.
Tess Kelly, a qualified lawyer who has
been working with Danila Dilba’s policy
and research team, has been seconded
to work part-time with NTLAC where she
contributes to NTLAC’s work with young
Aboriginal people in the justice system
and to an increased understanding of the
relationship between health and justice.
At the same time, Tess is learning
more about the legal process involved
in advocating formally for these young

Strengthening
partnerships and
relationships

Danila Dilba has taken an increasingly active role in
advocacy, working with peak bodies like the National
Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (NACCHO),
Aboriginal Medical Services Alliance NT (AMSANT) and
Aboriginal Peak Organisations NT (APONT), both to contribute
to their advocacy and to amplify our voice as a
major health service provider.
Tess Kelly, Danila Dilba Policy
Officer and NTLAC Civil Lawyer.

people. The partnership
has amplified the voices of
both organisations and has
strengthened our shared
understanding of how to
advocate effectively for
our clients.
Tess says the partnership
has given her an
opportunity to see the
intersection between
health and legal issues
at first hand.

Robert Hale, the Indigenous
Client Liaison Officer at
NTLAC, coordinates legal
appointments for clients at
Danila Dilba clinics.

Most exciting
has been the
development
of a policy
and advocacy
partnership
and mutual
learning
about working
across
disciplines
in health
and law.

“I have observed how the underlying
social determinants of health form a
pipeline into the youth justice system,
and the benefits of multi-disciplinary
collaboration in understanding these
issues and seeking to address them.
“I believe there is much to be achieved
through this kind of collaboration for
the benefit of both organisations and
ultimately for our clients.”

We have participated in government and
non-government policy forums, made
submissions to inquiries, participated in legal
processes and advocated through the media.
Danila Dilba has also advocated strongly and
effectively throughout the year in relation to
issues about homelessness, rough sleepers
and the way governments talk about
homeless people. We are firmly involved
in policy discussions and service design for
services to support the most vulnerable in
our community.
More directly in relation to primary health
care, Danila Dilba has been involved in
advocacy and policy processes about the
allocation of health resources, the new
approach to the national Closing the Gap
targets, the Medicare Benefits Schedule
review, MyHealth Record implementation,
and input to the NT Continuous Quality
Improvement (CQI) steering committee.

Leading
and influencing
using evidence and
knowledge to
influence policy
and service
improvements
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3.3 Advocacy

Health justice partnership

NTLAC staff attend our clinics to meet
with clients who want legal advice and
connect them to further help if needed.
This service is popular with our clients,
and NTLAC also found that it improves
access to NTLAC for vulnerable clients.

2017-2022
Strategic Priority 3

Children and youth in care
and in the youth justice system
In 2018-19 Danila Dilba continued a
major focus on advocacy for the
implementation of the recommendations
of the Royal Commission into the
Protection and Detention of Children
in the Northern Territory.
The Royal Commission presented its final
report in November 2017. Progress has
been slower than we would like, which has
highlighted the importance of continued
advocacy to hold governments to account.
During the year, Danila Dilba:
• participated in the Legislative Amendments
Advisory Committee to advocate for
appropriate changes to the law in child
protection and youth justice,
• advocated both publicly and direct to the
Minister for Territory Families against the
reversal of some gains in the treatment of
young people in detention,
Progress has
been slower
than we would
like, which has
highlighted
the importance
Danila Dilba staff,
of
continued
left to right:
Rodger Williams,
advocacy to hold
Tracey Thompson,
governments to
Kirra Muggeridge,
Hannah Barber
account.
and David Precoma
at the National
Close The Gap
Day at Malak.

page 70 Danila Dilba Health Service ANNUAL REPORT 2018–2019

Danila Dilba Health Service ANNUAL REPORT 2018–2019

page 71

• promoted alternative models of detention
to give better outcomes,
• participated in the Tripartite Forum that
is providing leadership across the NT and
Australian governments in reforming child
protection and youth justice,
• participated in the design of the new Child
and Family Centres recommended by the
Royal commission,
• initiated the process to transfer primary
health care at Don Dale Detention Centre
from the Department of Health to
Danila Dilba.
Over the past 18 months, Danila Dilba also
hosted Territory Families policy officer
Natalie Whyte, who was seconded to APO
NT to work in collaboration with us to
develop an Aboriginal-led and managed Out
of Home Care strategy. The strategy was
completed in October 2018, and Natalie has
also worked on developing tools to support
implementation of the strategy, policies and
guidelines aimed at increasing the number
of Aboriginal kinship and foster carers and
developing an Aboriginal Carer handbook,
and contributed to videos about child safety
(see below).

Keeping kids safe videos
With funding from the NT Law Society, Danila
Dilba and Italk Studios produced three short
videos to help families understand more about
looking after children and keeping them safe,
and how families can get help.
The videos tell Elvis’s story – a family story that
shows why Territory Families child protection
workers (‘welfare’) may get involved if children
aren’t looked after well. There is also advice
for families if their children have been taken
into child protection, including how to get legal
help. See the videos at https://ddhs.org.au/
resources/elviss-story-italk-videos.
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Alcohol policy

Aged Care Royal Commission

Alcohol policy and advocacy was again a
major area of activity. Danila Dilba followed
up our earlier evidence to the NT Alcohol
Policies and Legislation Review (the Riley
Review, 2017) with continued advocacy
for the implementation of the review
recommendations.

In October 2018, the Australian Government
established a Royal Commission into Aged
Care Quality and Safety. Information about
aged care services is not readily accessible
to most of our clients and many Aboriginal
people are reluctant to place their elderly
kin into residential care, especially to places
far removed from family, community
and country.

This year, a significant activity was our
participation in a legal objection to an
application by Dan Murphy’s for a ‘big box’
liquor outlet on Bagot Road in Darwin. Danila
Dilba held grave concerns about the impact
of this store on vulnerable people in the area
including residents of Bagot Community,
Minmarama Park and Kulaluk. Our concerns
were shared by these communities’ leaders.
Danila Dilba partnered with a powerful
group of non-government organisations,
including the national Foundation for Alcohol
Research and Education, to lodge a formal
objection, gather expert witnesses who
understood the public health impacts and
to pursue our objections throughout the
Liquor Commission hearing process.
Our joint efforts were successful, and
the Liquor Commission ruled against the
application on public health impact grounds.

For the 80% of the Northern Territory’s
Aboriginal population who live in remote
or very remote communities there is
little provision of aged care services with
only 12 aged care facilities for the whole

of the NT, mostly located in the major
population centres. For our aged care
clients, the major issues of concern are lack
of culturally appropriate and safe services,
lack of Aboriginal staff in aged care, lack of
transport from aged care facilities to hospital
appointments and no mechanism to return
people from remote communities to their
home community.

3. RESEARCH, ADVOCACY AND PARTNERSHIPS
PARTNERSHIPS

• participated in the design of the new youth
detention centre for Darwin,

Danila Dilba has prepared a submission for
the Royal Commission, detailing the issues
affecting Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
clients in aged care facilities in the Northern
Territory and will support a client to make
a statement and attend hearings in Darwin
later in 2019.

Submissions and advocacy highlights
Process and issue

Action

UN Committee on the Rights of the Child

Joint report with APO NT / NAAJA

Australian Government Productivity
Commission Inquiry into Mental Health

Submission

NT Economic Policy Scrutiny Committee –
Care and Protection of Children Act
Amendment Bill

Submission and witness
appearance

NT Social Policy Scrutiny Committee – Youth Justice
and Related Legislation Amendment Bill (April 2019)

Submission and witness appearance

NT Economic Policy Scrutiny Committee –
Liquor Bill (2019)

Submission

Australian Government Productivity Commission
Inquiry into Expenditure on Children in the
Northern Territory

Submission

Territory Families Sexual Violence Prevention
and Response Framework Discussion Paper

Submission and follow up

Australian Government, Senate Inquiry into
Mental Health in rural and remote areas

Witness appearance and tabled
opening remarks

Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and
Safety (Darwin Hearings)

Expert witness appearance and
support for client witness

Northern Territory Liquor Commission
Dan Murphy’s application

Detailed objection, attendance
at all hearings, briefed counsel,
expert witness statement
from Clinical Director.
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Policy Internships
With the increased effort in policy and
advocacy, Danila Dilba has been fortunate
to attract high quality interns through our
partnership with the Aurora Project.
Interns come with varied academic
backgrounds and some contribute to our
advocacy and effectiveness by researching
and documenting much of the evidence
base we need to make sure our advocacy is
on solid ground.
Hannah Barber, Public Health
graduate, Canberra
Hannah Barber came to Danila Dilba through
the Aurora program in early 2019. Her role
with the Policy and Strategy team involved
invaluable background research that directly
contributed to the objection against the Dan
Murphy’s liquor store application. Hannah
spoke highly of her experience as a policy
intern in a welcoming, supportive and
professional team.

Hannah also spent time with the Deadly
Choices team, gaining insight into culturally
appropriate community services. “As a new
graduate heading into the policy sphere
in Canberra, I was able to experience real,
on the ground work and the direct impact
policies can have,” she said.
“Danila Dilba was an outstanding host
organisation which values cultural integrity
and addresses health holistically. It was a
truly enriching experience, and the friends,
lessons and passion I gained from my
placement was a one of a kind experience.
I now have a strong motivation to work
with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
affairs and the health impacts on vulnerable
communities.”
Hannah’s experience at Danila Dilba sparked
an interest in Aboriginal health, and she
is now making an ongoing contribution in
her new job in Canberra at the Australian
Institute of Health and Welfare.

The friends,
lessons
and passion
I gained from
my placement
was a one
of a kind
experience.

See more about the Aurora Project at
https://auroraproject.com.au/what-aurora-internship
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Directors’ Report
Directors and Directors Meetings

Distributions paid to members
during the year

The following persons were members of the Danila Dilba Health Service Management Committee
for the year ended 30 June 2019 and up to the date of this report
Current
Directors

Position

Meetings
Attended

Ms Carol Stanislaus

Chairperson

7

Nov 2020

Ms Samantha Crossman

Ordinary Member

0

Nov 2020

Ms Vanessa Harris

Ordinary Member

5

Nov 2019

Mr Mark Munnich

Ordinary Member

4

Nov 2019

Ms Shannon Daly

Ordinary Member (Deputy Chair 06/09/2019)

6

Nov 2019

Mr Timothy Duggan

Ordinary Member

1

Nov 2019

Mr Malcolm Hauser

Ordinary Member

5

Nov 2020

Ms Bronwyn Rossingh

Independent Director / Non Member

5

22 Feb 2021

Ms Deborah Butler

Independent Director / Non Member

1

05 Sept 2022

Term Expires

Non-Current
Directors

Position

Meetings
Attended

Date
Ceased

Ms Nicole Hucks (nee Butler)

Deputy Chairperson

5

13 Aug 2019

Mr Wayne Kurnoth

Larrakia Member

3

9 Apr 2019

Mr David Pugh

Independent Director / Non Member

3

7 Apr 2019

7 General Meetings were held during the financial year, with the Annual General Meeting
being held on 23 November 2018.

Principal activities

Review of operations

During the financial year the principal activities of
Danila Dilba Health Service consisted of:
- Primary Health
- Community Programs
- Care Coordination
- Pharmacy
- Health Systems
- Youth Justice Advocacy and Programs

The Corporation continues to grow with service
provisions and positive movements in Medicare
and Grant Funds. Benefits from the organisational
procurement review allowed for decreased
operational expenditure, although the Corporation
recorded a deficit for the year of ($86,960).The
adoption of new accounting standards AASB15 has
not heavily impacted the Corporation through the
Income Statement. All grant funding received in the
financial year has been recognised under the new
accounting standard as revenue in 2019 and there
are no carry forward funds.

Danila Dilba also provides for visiting specialist
services as outlined within the Annual Report.
Peripheral integrated services to the core business
included corporate, finance, human services,
marketing, client transport and information
technology. The Board undertook training provided
by the Australian Institute of Company Directors,
Governance Institute of Australia and completed a
Chief Executive Officer review process.
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Significant changes in the
state of affairs
There were no significant changes to the
corporation’s state of affairs during the year.

There were no distributions made to members
during the year nor were there unpaid or declared
distributions to members outstanding at year end.

Environmental regulations
The Corporation’s operations are not regulated by
any significant environmental regulation under a law
of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory.

Proceedings on behalf of the
corporation
There were no applications for leave to bring
proceedings made during the year under section
169-5 of the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander) Act 2006 (CATSI Act).

Auditors independence declaration
The Auditors Independence Declaration for the
year ended 30 June 2019 has been received and
can be found on page 5 of the report.

Significant events after the balance
sheet date
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the
end of the financial year which significantly affected
or may significantly affect the operations of the
Corporation, the results of those operations, or
the status of the affairs of the corporation in future
financial years.

Likely developments
The Corporation expects to maintain the present
status and level of operations and hence there
are no likely developments in the corporation’s
operations.

Qualifications, experience and
special responsibilities of directors
Current board members
Carol Stanislaus (Chair) is a Tiwi woman who
has worked in a variety of Indigenous positions in
tourism, local and Commonwealth government and
justice throughout the NT and WA, and currently
works with the Australian Government. She
holds a Bachelor of Applied Science in Aboriginal
Community Management and Development.
Carol is also a member of the DDHS Audit and
Risk Management Committee, North Australian
Aboriginal Justice Agency (NAAJA) and NT Stolen
Generation Aboriginal Corporation (NTSGAC).
Samantha Crossman is a Kungarakan-Gurindji
woman from the Northern Territory and is a
highly accomplished policy and project manager
with more than 20 years of domestic and
international experience. Sam is currently Director,
Executive Services at the Batchelor Institute.
She has Masters’ degrees in International Health
Management and in Management of Human
Resources.
Shannon Daly (nee Grant) is employed by the
Top End Health Service as the Consumer and
Cultural Consultant at Royal Darwin Hospital.
Shannon has 13 years active experience as an
Aboriginal Health Practitioner (previously AHW)
and has been an AHP educator and AHP lecturer.
Shannon completed her AHP training through
Danila Dilba in 2001. Shannon is passionate about
the AHP role which is vital to providing culturally
safe and competent care to Aboriginal people.
Vanessa Harris is the Executive Officer of the
NT Mental Health Coalition and has a Bachelor
of Health Science, majoring in Management
at Flinders University. Vanessa worked for the
Commonwealth Government, in OATSIH and in
Aboriginal Community Control (KWHB) and more
recently with the Lowitja Institute. Vanessa is
currently working on an NHMRC-funded research
project with Flinders University and is a member
of the Community Capability and the Social
Determinants of Health committee at the
Lowitja Institute.
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Timothy Duggan is the Healthy Living Manager at
the NT Division of the National Heart Foundation.
Timmy has had a varied career, starting as a
professional basketball player with the Cairns
Taipans. He has worked variously with NT Aids
and Hepatitis Council, CAAPS and with Indigenous
youth with Malak Re-engagement Centre and
Diversity Dimensions. He was recipient of the Top
End NAIDOC Person of the Year award in 2012
and has many other awards and achievements.
Mark Munnich is a Gunggandji and Yawuru
man, born and raised in Darwin NT. Mark holds a
Bachelor of Laws (LLB) and a Graduate Diploma
of Legal Practice, and has been admitted to
the Supreme Court of the Northern Territory
as a lawyer. Mark is employed as a lawyer and
Coordinator of Community Legal Education at the
North Australian Aboriginal Family Legal Service
(NAAFLS).
Malcolm Hauser has worked with the Northern
Land Council in minerals and energy for the last
three years. He has a background in environmental
and resource management and has also worked
with the Commonwealth Department of Health
on a Senate Inquiry into the Hearing Health of
Australia. Malcolm was appointed to the Audit
and Risk Management Committee of the board
on 28 June 2019.
Bronwyn Rossingh has been working and living
in the NT for over 20 years. She has travelled
extensively to towns, regions and remote Aboriginal
communities across the NT and WA, working in
community engagement, governance, financial
management, community development, youth
leadership, and education and training pathway
development. Previously she worked for chartered
accounting firms in Perth and London for over ten
years. Bronwyn is an Independent Director and a
member of the DDHS Audit and Risk Management
Committee.
Deborah Butler is a Jawoyn woman, born
and raised in Katherine, Northern Territory (NT).
Deb has a Bachelor of Business and more than
17 years’ experience working with government in
various project and policy roles, and is currently
studying for postgraduate qualifications in public
health. Deb is currently the Director, Chronic
Conditions and Prevention, in the NT
Department of Health.

Former board members
Nicole Hucks (nee Butler) (former Deputy
Chair) is a Larrakia/Wadjigan and Eastern Arrente
Aboriginal woman from the NT and is currently the
Assistant Commissioner for Children in the Office
of the Children’s Commissioner NT. Nicole holds
a Bachelor of Social Work and has defined her
career in child and family welfare, with experience
in child protection, care and protection research
and program and policy development in Victoria
and the NT. Nicole resigned from the Board in
August 2019.
Wayne Kurnoth is a Larrakia man from the
Fejo family group. He is currently employed as
the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Union
Organiser for United Voice, supporting members
with workplace issues and workers’ rights
across the NT. Previously, he worked as a boiler
maker/welder for 17 years in the shipbuilding,
construction, and oil and gas industries. Wayne
resigned from the Board in April 2019.

David Pugh is the CEO of NT Anglicare and

has a Masters of Business degree. He was
previously CEO of St Luke’s Anglicare in Bendigo,
Victoria, has held senior government positions
and worked in Milingimbi and Nhulunbuy. David
is a member of the Anglicare Australia Board, the
APONT NGO Partnership Steering Group and the
NT Government NGO Consultative Committee.
David was a member of the DDHS Audit and Risk
Management Committee. David resigned from
`the Board in April 2019.
This report is made in accordance with a resolution
of directors on 25 October 2019.

Mrs Carol Stanislaus
Director / Chairperson

Ms Shannon Daly
Deputy Chairperson

25 October 2019 Darwin
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The Danila Dilba Biluru Butji Binnilutlum
Health Service Aboriginal Corporation was
established as an incorporated association
in June 1991 under the Commonwealth of
Australia Aboriginal Councils and Associations
Act 1976 (Now the Corporations Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander Act 2006). Danila
Dilba Biluru Butji Binnilutlum Health Service
Aboriginal Corporation operates as a provider
of primary health care to Aboriginal people
of the greater Darwin area of the Northern
Territory of Australia.
The principal place of business is:
28-30 Knuckey Street
Darwin, Northern Territory 0800, Australia
Telephone Number: +61 8 8942 5400

For the year ended 30 June 2019
Notes

2019

2018

20,211,669

19,946,835

-

-

Revenue
Grant income

2-4

Prior year unspent funds brought forward
Medicare receipts

5

5,432,749

4,805,121

Sundry income

6

627,066

782,442

26,271,484

25,534,398

Total Revenue

Expenditure
Administration

7

2,094,299

1,765,135

Bad and doubtful debts

9

-

2,049

Employee expenses

8

19,764,027

18,130,129

Motor vehicle

11

477,519

518,361

Operations and
Principal Activities

Operational

12

3,848,548

4,224,517

Rental property

13

5,770

10,609

As an Aboriginal community controlled
health organisation, Danila Dilba Biluru
Butji Binnilutlum Health Service Aboriginal
Corporation aims to provide a holistic
comprehensive primary health care service
that focuses on empowering and building the
community’s capacity to determine its own
health needs. This means ‘Aboriginal health
staying in Aboriginal hands’.

Travel and accommodation

14

168,281

183,607

Assets written off

15

-

-

26,358,444

24,834,407

(86,960)

699,991

-

-

(86,960)

699,991

-

-

(86,960)

699,991

Main services, programs and projects
conducted through the year:
• Clinical Services

Total Expenditure
Surplus/(Deficit) before income tax
Income tax expense
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total Comprehensive Income for the year

• Men’s Health & Well Being
• Women & Children’s Health & Well Being
• Community Outreach
• Eye and Ear Health
• Sexual Health
• Youth Services
• Counselling and Support Services

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of Changes in Equity

As at 30 June 2019

For the year ended 30 June 2019
Notes

2019

2018

Current Assets

4. FINANCIAL REPORTS

Statement of Financial Position

Retained Earnings
Balance at 30 June 2017

2,478,738

Cash and cash equivalents

16

328,118

275,079

Adjustment to adopt the National Standard Chart of Accounts

Trade and other receivables

18

302,150

262,905

Restated Balance at 30 June 2017

Other current assets

17

73,978

160,612

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year

704,246

698,596

Balance at 30 June 2018

Total Current Assets

Donated Motor Vehicles
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year

Non-Current Assets
Property plant and equipment

19

10,603,848

11,055,249

Total Non-Current Assets

10,603,848

11,055,249

Total Assets

11,348,094

11,753,845

Balance at 30 June 2019

Accrued expenses

Asset revaluation
20

Trade and other payables

189,899

157,614

Balance at 30 June 2018

861,008

89 2,89 0

Asset revaluation

Employee provisions

22

1,558,170

1,323,545

Other current liabilities

23

497,529

1,102,362

3,106,606

3,476,411

Total Current Liabilities

Balance at 30 June 2019

Transfer to retained earnings

Employee provisions

22

123,704

151,49 1

Balance at 30 June 2018

Loan Payable

24

181,024

223,971

Transfer to retained earnings

304,728

375,462

Balance at 30 June 2019

Total Liabilities

3,411,334

3,851,873

Net Assets

7,896,760

7,901,972

Total Non-Current Liabilities

Retained earnings

3,157,508

4,550,000
4,550,000
4,550,000

189,252
189,252
189,252

7,217,991

Opening balance adjustment

(16,010)

189,252

189,252

Land revaluation reserve

4,550,000

4,550,000

Gifted Motor Vehicles

Total Accumulated Funds

7,896,760

7,901,972

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year

Balance at 30 June 2018

Balance at 30 June 2019
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(86,960)

699,991

3,162,720

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

81,749

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year
3,157,508

Asset replacement reserve

3,162,719

Total Accumulated Funds
Balance at 30 June 2017

Accumulated Funds

699,991

Asset Replacement Reserve
Balance at 30 June 2017

Non-Current Liabilities

2,462,728

Land Revaluation Reserve
Balance at 30 June 2017

Current Liabilities

(16,010)

7,901,972
81,748
(86,960)
7,896,760

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

Danila Dilba Health Service ANNUAL REPORT 2018–2019

page 83

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2019
Notes

2019

2018

20,510,319

20,548,007

5,432,749

4,805,121

4,395

11,178

622,671

698,908

(8,584,262)

(8,293,528)

(17,656,963)

(15,847,176)

328,909

1,922,511

Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Grant income
Medicare income
Interest received
Other income
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities

26

Cash Flows from Investment Activities
Proceeds from sale of assets

-

-

Payments for property plant and equipment

(275,870)

(3,504,742)

Net Cash Inflows/(Outflow) from Investing Activities

(275,870)

(3,504,742)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

53,039

(1,582,231)

275,079

1,857,310

328,118

275,079

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

16

Note 1:
Statement of Significant
Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies adopted by
Danila Dilba Biluru Butji Binnilutlum Health Service
Aboriginal Corporation in the preparation of the
financial report are set out below.

a. Basis of preparation
The financial statements are general purpose
financial statements that have been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards
(including Australian Accounting Interpretations)
and the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander) Act 2006. The Corporation is a not-forprofit entity for reporting purposes under Australian
accounting standards.
New and Amended Accounting Policies
Adopted by the Corporation
Revenue recognition – AASB 15 and AASB 1058
Impact of application of AASB 15 revenue from
Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income
of Not-for-Profit Entities
In the current year, the Corporation has early
adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not forProfit Entities which is effective for an annual
period that begins on or after January 1, 2019.
AASB 15 introduced a 5 step approach to revenue
recognition. AASB 1058 applies to not-for-profit
(NFP) entities, in conjunction with AASB 15, when
NFP receives volunteer services or enters into other
transactions where the consideration to acquire an
asset is significantly less than the fair value of the
asset principally to enable the entity to further its
objectives. Far more prescriptive guidance has been
added in AASB 15 and AASB 1058 to deal with
specific scenarios. Details of the new requirements
as well as their impact on the Corporation’s financial
statements are described below.
The Corporation elected the modified retrospective
method and applied the standard retrospectively
to only the most current period presented in the
financial statements. The Corporation did not require
any adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings at the date of initial application i.e. July
1, 2018 which is allowable as per the standard.
Accordingly, the information presented for the
previous corresponding period did not need to
be restated.

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of Cash Flows

AASB 15 uses the terms ‘contract asset’ and
‘contract liability’ to describe what might more
commonly be known as ‘accrued revenue’ and
·deferred revenue’, however the Standard does
not prohibit an entity from using alternative
descriptions in the statement of financial position.
The Corporation has adopted the terminology
used in AASB 15 to describe such balances.
The Corporation’s accounting policies for its
revenue streams are disclosed in detail in note 1(b).
Apart from providing more extensive disclosures
for the Corporation’s revenue transactions, the
application of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 has had
no significant impact on the financial position
and/or financial performance of the Corporation.
The application of the AASB 15 and AASB 1058
has resulted in no adjustments as at 1 July 2017,
1 July 2018 and 1 July 2019.
Initial Application of AASB 9: Financial Instruments
The Corporation has adopted AASB 9: Financial
Instruments with a date of initial application of
1 July 2018. As a result, the entity has changed
its financial instruments accounting policies as
detailed in this note.
Considering the initial application of AASB 9
during the financial period, financial statement line
items have not been affected for the current and
prior periods.
AASB 9 requires retrospective application with
some exemptions and exceptions (i.e. when
applying the effective interest method, impairment
measurement requirements, and hedge accounting
requirements in terms of the standard).
Disclosure: Initial Application of AASB 9
There were no financial assets/liabilities which the
Entity had previously designated as fair value through
profit or loss under AASB 139: Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement that were subject
to reclassification/elected reclassification upon the
application of AASB 9. There were no financial
assets/liabilities which the Entity elected to designate
as at fair value through profit or loss at the date of
initial application of AASB 9.
The Entity applied AASB 9 (as revised in July
2014) and the related consequential amendments
to other Australian Accounting Standards. New
requirements were introduced for the classification
and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, as well as for impairment and general
hedge accounting.
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Financial assets in terms of AASB 9 need to be
measured subsequently at either amortised cost
or fair value on the basis of the Entity’s business
model and the cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets, as follows:
• debt investments that are held within a business
model whose goal is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost;
• debt investments that are held within a business
model whose goal is both to collect contractual
cash flows and to sell it, and that have
contractual cash flows that are purely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, are subsequently measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income; and
• all other debt investments and equity investments
are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Despite the issues mentioned, the Corporation
may make the following irrevocable elections at
initial recognition of a financial asset:
- The Corporation may choose to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment that is not held for trading and
not a contingent consideration in a business
combination in other comprehensive income.
- The Entity may choose to present a debt
investment that meets the amortised cost or
fair value through other comprehensive income
criteria as measured at fair value through profit
or loss if this choice significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
When an equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income has a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income, it is not reclassified to profit or loss.
However, when a debt investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income is
derecognised, the gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity
to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.
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Debt instruments that are subsequently measured
at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income are subject to impairment.

A simple approach is followed in relation to trade
receivables as the loss allowance is measured at
lifetime expected credit loss.

The directors of the Corporation determined the
existing financial assets as at 1 July 2018 based on
the facts and circumstances that were present and
determined that the initial application of AASB 9
had the following effect:

The Corporation has reviewed and assessed
the existing financial assets on 1 July 2018. The
assessment was done to test the impairment
of these financial assets using reasonable and
supportable information that is available to
determine the credit risk of the respective items
at the date they were initially recognised. The
assessment was compared to the credit risk as at
1 July 2017 and 1 July 2018. The assessment was
done without undue cost or effort in accordance
with AASB 9.

The Corporation’s investments in equity
instruments not held for trading that were
previously classified as available-for-sale financial
assets and were measured at fair value have
been designated as at fair value through other
comprehensive income. The movement in fair
value on equity instruments is accumulated in the
financial assets reserve.
Financial assets as held-to-maturity and loans and
receivables that were measured at amortised cost
continue to be measured at amortised cost under
AASB 9, as they are held to collect contractual
cash flows and these cash flows consist solely of
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
Financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss under AASB 139 are still measured as
such under AASB 9.
Impairment
As per AASB 9, an expected credit loss model is
applied, not an incurred credit loss model as per
the previous standard applicable (AASB 139). To
reflect changes in credit risk, this expected credit
loss model requires the Corporation to account for
expected credit losses since initial recognition.
AASB 9 also determines that a loss allowance
for expected credit loss be recognised on debt
investments subsequently measured at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income, lease receivables, contract assets, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts as
the impairment provision would apply to them.
If the credit risk on a financial instrument did not
show significant change since initial recognition,
an expected credit loss amount equal to 12-month
expected credit losses are used. However, a loss
allowance is recognised at an amount equal to the
lifetime expected credit loss if the credit risk on
that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, or if the instrument is an
acquired credit-impaired financial asset.

Financial assets to
which the impairment
provisions apply

Note

Accounts receivable and
other debtors

18
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The date of initial application was 1 July 2018.
The Entity has applied AASB 9 to instruments that
have not been derecognised as at 1 July 2018
and has not applied AASB 9 to instruments that
have already been derecognised as at 1 July 2018.
Comparative amounts in relation to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 July 2018
have been restated where appropriate.

Attributes of credit risk

Loss allowance recognised
1 July 2017

The Corporation uses the
simplified approach and
recognises lifetime
expected credit loss.

The application of the AASB 9 impairment
requirements has resulted no additional credit loss
as at 1 July 2017, 1 July 2018 and 1 July 2019
and therefore, the reconciliation of the provision
for impairment in accordance with AASB 139
and AASB 137 to the opening loss allowances
determined in accordance with AASB 9 has not
been presented.
AASB 7.42P The consequential amendments to
AASB 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures have
also resulted in more extensive disclosures about
the Corporation’s exposure to credit risk in the
consolidated financial statements.
Classification and measurement of
financial liabilities
AASB 9 determines that the measurement of
financial liabilities and also the classification relates
to changes in the fair value designated as at fair
value through profit or loss attributable to changes
in the credit risk.

Nil

1 July 2018
Nil

AASB 9 further states that the movement in the
fair value of financial liabilities that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability needs to
be shown in other comprehensive income, unless
the effect of the recognition constitutes accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value
in relation to the financial liability’s credit risk are
transferred to retained earnings when the financial
liability is derecognised and not reclassified through
profit or loss. AASB 139 requires the fair value
amount of the change of the financial liability
designated as at fair value through profit or loss to
be presented in profit or loss.
Apart from this, the application of AASB 9 has had
no impact on the classification and measurement
of the Corporation’s financial liabilities.
The following table represents the classification
and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities under AASB 9 and AASB 139 at the date
of initial application, 1 July 2018
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AASB 139 original

AASB 9 new

b. Revenue recognition policy

Carrying amount
AASB 139
original

AASB 9 recognition
of additional loss
allowance

AASB 9 new

Financial assets
Current and non-current
Accounts receivable and
other debtors

Loans and receivables
(amortised cost)

Financial assets
at amortised cost

262,905

-

262,905

Cash and cash
equivalents

Loans and receivables
(amortised cost)

Financial assets
at amortised cost

275,079

-

275,079

Other Current Assets

Loans and receivables
(amortised cost)

Financial assets
at amortised cost

73,978

-

73,978

Accounts payable and
other payables

Amortised cost

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

892,890

-

892,890

Accrued Expenses

Amortised cost

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

127,814

-

127,814

Loan

Amortised cost

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

262,465

-

262,465

Financial liabilities
Current and non-current

The following standard will need to be considered
by the corporation;
AASB 16 Leases
This standard is applicable to annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
The standard replaces AASB 117 ‘Leases’ and
for lessees will eliminate the classifications of
operating leases and finance leases. Subject to
exceptions, a ‘right-of-use’ asset will be capitalised
in the statement of financial position, measured
at the present value of the unavoidable future
lease payments to be made over the lease term.
The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12
months or less and leases of low-value assets
(such as personal computers and small office
furniture) where an accounting policy choice exists
whereby either a ‘right-of-use’ asset is recognised
or lease payments are expensed to profit or loss as
incurred. A liability corresponding to the capitalised
lease will also be recognised, adjusted for lease
prepayments, lease incentives received, initial
direct costs incurred and an estimate of any future
restoration, removal or dismantling costs. The
corporation will adopt this standard from 1 July
2019 but the impact of its adoption is yet to be
assessed by the corporation.
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Currency
The financial report is presented in Australian
dollars and rounded to the nearest dollar.
Historical cost convention
These financial statements, except for the cash
flow information, have been prepared on an accrual
basis and are based on historical costs, modified
where applicable, by the measurement at fair value
of selected non-current assets, financial assets and
financial liabilities.
The financial statements were authorised for
issue on 25 October 2019 by the directors of the
corporation.
Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with Australian Accounting Standards
requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying Danila
Dilba Biluru Butji Binnilutlum Health Service
Aboriginal Corporation’s accounting policies.

Revenue recognition
The Corporation generates its revenue from grants
and rendering of client services over time and at a
point in time. Revenue is measured based on the
consideration to which the Corporation expects
to be entitled in a contract with a customer and
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. The goods and services are sold both on
their own in separately identified contracts with
customers and together as a bundled package of
goods and/or services. Revenue from contracts
with customers is recognised when control of the
goods or services are transferred to the customer
at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Corporation expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.
Grant Revenue
The Corporation recognises;
• Income immediately in profit or loss for the
excess of the initial carrying amount of an asset
over the related contributions of the Corporation,
increases in liabilities, decreases in assets and
revenue;
• Liabilities for the excess of the initial carrying
amount of a financial asset (received in a transfer
to enable the corporation to acquire or construct
a non-financial asset that is to be controlled
by the corporation) over any related amounts
recognised in accordance with the relative
standards. The liabilities must be amortised to
profit or loss as income when the corporation
satisfies its obligations under the transfer; and

Some contracts include variable considerations
such as rejection of claims, volume discount and
prompt payment discount. Prior to the adoption
of AASB 15, management made its best estimate
of the retroactive/discount adjustment based on
its knowledge and experience about past and
current events. Under AASB 15, management
estimates variable consideration using the
expected value method for rejections and volume
discounts and single most likely amount method
for prompt payment discount. Management apply
one method consistently throughout the contract
when estimating the effect of an uncertainty on
an amount of variable consideration to which
the Corporation will be entitled. In addition,
management consider all the information (historical,
current and forecast) that is reasonably available to
the Corporation and identify a reasonable number
of possible consideration amounts.
Revenue from client services are recognised over
a period of time and client clinical services are
recognised at the point in time.
Interest income
Interest income from a financial asset is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Corporation and the amount of
income can be measured reliably. Interest income
is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Rental income

• Volunteer services or a class of volunteer services
as an accounting policy choice if the fair value of
those services can be measured reliably, whether
or not the services would have been purchased if
they had not been donated.

Revenue from investment properties is generally
recognised in the accounting period in which the
services are rendered, using straightline basis,
over the term of the lease contract. Such leases
are classified as other than finance lease.

Operating revenue

c. Employee benefits

The revenue is recognised (net of discounts)
when the treatment is provided and the invoice is
generated (i.e. after satisfaction of performance
obligation). Net client services revenue is
recognised at the estimated net realisable amounts
from the third party payers (insurance companies/
Medicare) and others for the services rendered,
net of estimated retroactive revenue adjustments
(rejections of claims) when the related services
are rendered.
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Financial instrument category

Provision is made for the Corporation’s liability for
employee benefits arising from services rendered
by the employees at the end of the reporting
period. Employee benefits that are expected to be
settled within one year have been measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liability is
settled. Non-current employee benefits payable
later than one year have been measured at the
present value of the estimated cash outflows to be
made for those benefits. In determining the liability,
consideration is given to employee wage increases
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d. Material estimates or judgements
In the preparation of the financial statements,
management has made judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported
for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet
date and the amounts reported for revenues and
expenses during the year. Actual results may differ
from these estimates. Estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Management have adopted a revaluation
methodology with further revaluation modelling to
be reviewed in the upcoming financial year.

e. Superannuation
Employee’s superannuation entitlements are
principally provided through the Australian
Retirement Fund. Danila Dilba Biluru Butji
Binnilutlum Health Service Aboriginal Corporation
pays 9.5% of an employee’s salary as per the
compulsory superannuation guarantee levy.

Full Time Equivalent
Employees as at 30 June

2019

2018

168.0

156.5

f. Income tax
The income of Danila Dilba Biluru Butji Binnilutlum
Health Service Aboriginal Corporation is exempt
from income tax pursuant to the provisions of
Section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment
Act, 1997.

g. Goods and Services Tax
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net
of the amount of goods and services tax (GST),
except:
- where the amount of GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority, it is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an
asset or as part of an item of expense; or

- for receivables and payables which are
recognised inclusive of GST. The net amount of
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority is included as part of receivables or
payables.
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash
Flows on a gross basis. The GST component of
Cash Flows arising from investing and financing
activities, which is recoverable from, or payable
to, the taxation authority, is classified as operating
cash flows.

h. Accounts Receivable and other
debtors
Accounts receivable and other debtors include
amounts due from members as well as amounts
receivable from customers for goods sold in the
ordinary course of business. Receivables expected
to be collected within 12 months of the end of the
reporting period are classified as current assets.
All other receivables are classified as non-current
assets.
Accounts receivable are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less
any provision for impairment. Refer to Note 25
for further discussion on the determination of
impairment losses.

The following estimated useful lives are used in the
calculation of the depreciation:
2019

2018

Buildings

20 years

20 years

Plant and Equipment

3 – 5 years

3 – 5 years

Motor Vehicles

5 years

5 years

Clinical Software

3 years

3 years

Policy treatment of revaluation

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at:
- amortised cost, or
- fair value through profit and loss
A financial liability is measured at fair value
through profit and loss if the financial liability is:
- a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination to which AASB 3 applies;held for trading; or

j. Impairment of assets

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest expense in profit or loss
over the relevant period.

Impairment losses are recognised in the income
statement unless the asset has previously been
revalued, when the impairment loss will be treated
as a revaluation decrement.

k. Financial Instruments

Land

Initial recognition and measurement

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is provided on
property, plant and equipment. Land is not a
depreciating asset. Depreciation is calculated on
a straight line basis so as to write off the net cost
or other revalued amount of each asset over its
expected useful life.

Financial liabilities

- initially designated as at fair value through profit
or loss.

i. Property, plant and equipment
Land assets are valued at fair value, and are
measured on the basis market value, being the
revalued amount at the date of the revaluation.
The last independent valuation was done 27
February 2017 by Colliers International Pty Ltd.
Independent revaluations are conducted every 3 to
5 years in order to keep values current. Each year
a desk top audit will also be done to ensure any
unexpected increases or decreases in value are
not overlooked.

Classification and subsequent measurement

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when there is no
future economic benefit to the Corporation. Gains
and losses between carrying amount and the
disposal proceeds are taken to profit and loss.

The corporation values the recoverable amount
of plant and equipment at the equivalent to its
depreciated replacement cost. Impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset exceeds its
estimated recoverable amount.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when the Corporation becomes
a party to the contractual provisions to the
instrument. For financial assets, this is the date
that the Corporation commits itself to either the
purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date
accounting is adopted).
Financial instruments (except for trade receivables)
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs, except where the instrument is classified
“at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case
transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss
immediately. Where available, quoted prices in an
active market are used to determine fair value.
In other circumstances, valuation techniques
are adopted.
Trade receivables are initially measured at the
transaction price if the trade receivables do not
contain significant financing component or if the
practical expedient was applied as specified in
AASB 15.63.
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and the probability that the employee may not
satisfy vesting requirements. Those cash outflows
are discounted using market yields on corporate
bonds rates with terms to maturity that match
the expected timing of cash flows attributable to
employee benefits.

All other financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

The effective interest rate is the internal rate of
return of the financial asset or liability. That is, it
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash flows through the expected life of the
instrument to the net carrying amount at initial
recognition.
A financial liability is held for trading if it is:
- incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or
repaying in the near term;
- part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern
of short-term profit taking;
- a derivative financial instrument (except for a
derivative that is in a financial guarantee contract
or a derivative that is in an effective hedging
relationship); or
- any gains or losses arising on changes in fair
value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent
that they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.
The change in fair value of the financial liability
attributable to changes in the issuer’s credit risk
is taken to other comprehensive income and is
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Instead, it is transferred to retained earnings upon
derecognition of the financial liability.
If taking the change in credit risk in other
comprehensive income enlarges or creates
an accounting mismatch, then these gains or
losses are taken to profit or loss rather than
other comprehensive income.
A financial liability cannot be reclassified.
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Financial assets are subsequently measured at:
- amortised cost;
- fair value through other comprehensive income;
or
- fair value through profit and loss
on the basis of the two primary criteria, being:
- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset; and
- the business model for managing the financial
assets.
A financial asset is subsequently measured
at amortised cost when it meets the following
conditions:
- the financial asset is managed solely to collect
contractual cash flows; and
- the contractual terms within the financial asset
give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding on specified dates.
A financial asset is subsequently measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income when it
meets the following conditions:
- the contractual terms within the financial asset
give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding on specified dates; and
- the business model for managing the financial
asset comprises both contractual cash flows
collection and the selling of the financial asset.

of financial liabilities or financial assets can be
managed and evaluated consistently on a fair
value basis; and
- it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded
derivative that significantly modifies the cash
flows otherwise required by the contract.
The initial designation of the financial instruments
to measure at fair value through profit and loss
is a one-time option on initial classification and is
irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised.

Derecognition
Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously
recognised financial asset or financial liability from
the statement of financial position.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished
(i.e. when the obligation in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires). An exchange
of an existing financial liability for a new one with
substantially modified terms, or a substantial
modification to the terms of a financial liability, is
treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability
and recognition of a new financial liability.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed,
is recognised in profit or loss.
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset is derecognised when the holder’s
contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or
the asset is transferred in such a way that all the
risks and rewards of ownership are substantially
transferred.

On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as
fair value through other comprehensive income, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss.
On derecognition of an investment in equity
which was elected to be classified under fair
value through other comprehensive income, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the investments revaluation reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.

Impairment
The Entity recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses on:
- financial assets that are measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income;
- lease receivables;
- contract assets (e.g. amount due from customers
under construction contracts);
- loan commitments that are not measured at fair
value through profit or loss; and
- financial guarantee contracts that are not
measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Loss allowance is not recognised for:
- financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss; or
- equity instruments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

The Entity initially designates financial instruments
as measured at fair value through profit or loss if

- the right to receive cash flows from the asset has
expired or been transferred;

Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a
financial instrument. A credit loss is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due
and all cash flows expected to be received, all
discounted at the original effective interest rate of
the financial instrument.

- it eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency
(often referred to as “accounting mismatch”) that
would otherwise arise from measuring assets or
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on
them on different bases;

- all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset
have been substantially transferred; and

The Entity uses the simplified approaches to
impairment, as applicable under AASB 9:

- the Entity no longer controls the asset (i.e. it has
no practical ability to make unilateral decisions to
sell the asset to a third party).

Simplified approach

By default, all other financial assets that do not
meet the conditions of amortised cost and the
fair value through other comprehensive income’s
measurement condition are subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

- it is in accordance with the documented
risk management or investment strategy
and information about the groupings was
documented appropriately, so the performance
of the financial liability that was part of a group
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All of the following criteria need to be satisfied for
derecognition of a financial asset:

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

The simplified approach does not require tracking
of changes in credit risk in every reporting period,
but instead requires the recognition of lifetime
expected credit loss at all times.
This approach is applicable to trade receivables.
In measuring the expected credit loss a provision
matrix for trade receivables has been used,
taking into consideration various data to get to an

4. FINANCIAL REPORTS

Financial asset

expected credit loss (i.e. diversity of its customer
base, appropriate groupings of its historical loss
experience, etc.).
Recognition of expected credit losses in
financial statements
At each reporting date, the Entity recognises the
movement in the loss allowance as an impairment
gain or loss in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
The carrying amount of financial assets measured
at amortised cost includes the loss allowance
relating to that asset.
Assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income. An amount in
relation to change in credit risk is transferred
from other comprehensive income to profit
or loss at every reporting period.
For financial assets that are unrecognised
(e.g. loan commitments yet to be drawn, financial
guarantees), a provision for loss allowance is
created in the statement of financial position
to recognise the loss allowance.
Impairment of Assets
At the end of each reporting period, the entity
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have been impaired.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use, is
compared to the asset’s carrying amount. Any
excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its
recoverable amount is recognised in profit or loss.
Where the assets are not held primarily for their
ability to generate net cash inflows – that is, they
are specialised assets held for continuing use of
their service capacity – the recoverable amounts
are expected to be materially the same as
fair value.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Entity estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.
Where an impairment loss on a revalued individual
asset is identified, this is recognised against the
revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of
asset to the extent that the impairment loss does
not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus
for that class of asset.
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2019

2018

12,304,262

12,922,270

Department of Social Services

322,720

284,820

Dept. of Prime Minister & Cabinet

615,618

894,424

13,242,600

14,101,514

Primary Health Network

2,720,044

2,383,987

Northern Territory Government

1,775,927

1,265,914

727,651

687,651

5,223,622

4,337,552

1,633,792

1,361,49 7

111,655

146,272

1,745,447

1,507,769

20,211,669

19,946,835

5,432,749

4,805,121

5,432,749

4,805,121

4,395

11,178

Reimbursements

109,887

242,101

Land Revaluation Reserve

Rent Income

109,475

82,417

The Land Revaluation Reserve is to record
increments and decrements in the fair value
of land.

Qumax

96,031

94,484

-

66,535

307,278

285,727

627,066

782,442

Liabilities for trade creditors and other amounts
are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the
consideration to be paid in the future for goods
and services received, whether or not billed to the
Corporation.

m. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other
short-term, highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Where accounts at financial institutions are
overdrawn, balances are shown in current liabilities
on the balance sheet.

n. Commitments
Commitments are recognised when the
Corporation has a legal or constructive obligation,
as a result of past events, for which it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will result
and that outflow can be reliably measured.
Commitments recognised represent the best
estimate of the amounts required to settle the
obligation at reporting date.

o. Operating leases
Lease payments for operating leases, where
substantially all the risks and benefits remain with
the lessor, are recognised as an expense in the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

p. Nature and purpose of reserves

Asset Replacement Reserve
The Asset Replacement Reserve is to record funds
set aside for the replacement of capital assets.

page 94 Danila Dilba Health Service ANNUAL REPORT 2018–2019

4. FINANCIAL REPORTS

l. Trade and other payables
Note 2:
Australian Government Financial Assistance
Department of Health

Note 3:
Northern Territory Government Financial Assistance

Dept. Children & Families

Note 4:
Other Financial Assistance
Northern Territory General Practice Education Ltd
Other Grants
Total Grant Income

Note 5:
Medicare Receipts
Commonwealth Government Medicare Receipts

Note 6:
Sundry Income
Bank Interest

NACCHO
Other Sundry Income
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2019

2018

2019

2018

Note 10:
Depreciation

Note 7:
Administration Expenses
32,012

29,800

Buildings

520,780

244,479

9,695

10,684

Plant and Equipment

227,394

203,322

60,291

86,479

Motor Vehicles

14,987

-

127,632

82,602

Clinical Software

45,859

28,547

809,020

476,348

809,020

476,348

Information Technology Services

410,637

378,653

Insurance

164,268

155,161

Interest Expense

14,317

7,641

76,178

74,351

Lease – Plant and Equipment

70,666

64,075

Lease Expense

381,213

411,295

Legal Service

27,990

65,670

Repairs and Maintenance

15,229

29,173

Membership Fees

45,551

64,279

Registration

Postage

25,143

32,632

Stationery

86,149

78,303

Telephone

193,757

176,789

17,171

56,019

2,094,299

1,765,135

Accounting Fees
Bank Charges
Board Governance Expense
Business Planning Report and Evaluation
Depreciation

Other

10

Note 8:
Employee Benefits Expenses
Fringe Benefit Tax

Note 11:
Motor vehicle Expenses
Fuel and Oil

4,899

3,542

477,519

518,361

Advertising and Promotions

138,242

218,273

Agency Staff

155,355

92,848

Cleaning

509,136

480,009

Client Services

300,391

254,667

Consultants

398,267

300,122

431

3,566

GP Locums

19,617

49,822

Note 12:
Operation Expenses

-

(10,272)

17,660,967

16,185,546

1,571,025

1,426,776

Work Cover

235,962

225,143

Health and Safety

14,791

70,879

Staff Training

168,867

138,816

Medical Supplies

471,275

508,122

Other

127,206

164,119

Minor Equipment Purchases

62,343

269,005

19,764,027

18,130,128

6,113

66,595

Publications and Resources

23,050

85,479

QUMAX Expenditure

75,432

94,484

1,275,477

1,104,073

147,742

208,267

Security

48,881

253,230

Utilities

199,442

156,813

2,563

8,263

3,848,548

4,224,517

Salaries
Superannuation

Note 9:
Bad and Doubtful Debts Expense
Bad Debts

-

2,049

-

2,049

Dental Supplies

NACCHO Expenditure

Rent Expenditure
Repairs and Maintenance

Other
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Notes

Danila Dilba Health Service ANNUAL REPORT 2018–2019

page 97

2018

5,770

10,609

5,770

10,609

Note 13:
Rental Property
Rental Property

Note 14:
Travel
Travel and Accommodation

168,281
168,281

183,607

Note 16:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at Bank
Cash on Hand

Prepayments
Other

2019
Expected
loss rate

164,049

-

Past Due 0-30 Days

35,089

Past Due 31-60 Days
Past Due 61-90 Days
Past Due 90 Days & Over

Loss
Allowance
Provision

Gross

2018
Expected
loss rate

Loss
Allowance
Provision

-

124,107

-

-

-

70,785

-

-

31,474

-

-

2,046

-

-

60,075

-

-

-

-

-

11,463

-

-

65,967

-

-

262,905

302,150

-

-

Credit Risk
-

-

-

-

326,418

273,179

1,700

1,9 00

328,118

275,079

56,929

81,991

6,433

58,862

10,616

19,758

73,978

160,611

Note 17:
Other Current Assets
Bond Paid

Not Past Due

183,607

Note 15:
Assets Written Off
Assets Written Off

Gross

Note 18:
CURRENT
Trade and other Receivables

The Entity has no significant concentration of credit
risk with respect to any single counterparty or Entity
of counterparties other than those receivables
specifically provided for and mentioned within this
note. The main source of credit risk to the Entity is
considered to relate to the class of assets described
as “accounts receivable and other debtors”.
The Entity always measures the loss allowance for
accounts receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit loss. The expected credit losses on
accounts receivable are estimated using a provision
matrix by reference to past default experience of
the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
of the industry in which the debtors operate and
an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

There has been no change in the estimation
techniques used or significant assumptions made
during the current reporting period.
The Entity writes off an accounts receivable when
there is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery (e.g. when the debtor has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings) or when the trade
receivables are over two years past due, whichever
occurs earlier. None of the accounts receivable that
have been written off are subject to enforcement
activities.
As at 30 June 2019, current receivables with a
nominal value of $138,101 (2018: $138,798) were
past due but not impaired. These relate to a number
of customers for whom there is no history of default.
2019

2018

532,072

444,479

(429,291)

(383,432)

Note 19:
Property Plant and Equipment

Trade Debtors

121,577

229,950

Other Debtors – Grants and Medicare

180,573

32,955

-

-

Written Down Value

102,781

61,047

302,150

262,905

Land – at Fair Value

5,150,000

5,150,000

Buildings

6,747,292

6,698,378

(2,006,208)

(1,485,428)

Written Down Value

9,891,084

10,362,950

Plant and Equipment - at Cost

2,135,721

1,981,658

(1,606,960)

(1,379,566)

528,761

602,092

81,749

-

(14,987)

-

Witten Down Value

66,762

-

Work in Progress - at Cost

43,620

29,160

(29,160)

-

14,460

29,160

10,603,848

11,055,249

Provision for impairment

The Entity applies the simplified approach to
providing for expected credit losses prescribed
by AASB 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for all accounts receivable.
To measure the expected credit losses, accounts
receivable have been grouped based on shared

credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
The loss allowance provision as at 30 June 2019
is determined as follows; the expected credit
losses also incorporate forward-looking
information.

Clinical Software – at Cost
Accumulated Amortisation and Impairment

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
Written Down Value
Motor Vehicles – at Cost
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

Asset Recognition in clinical software
Written Down Value
Total Written Down Value
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Year Ended 30 June 2019

fair value, and are measured on the basis market
value, being the revalued amount at the date of
the revaluation. No items of Property, Plant and
Equipment are expected to be sold or disposed
of within the next 12 months

2019

2018

1,093,140

9 69 ,9 56

465,030

353,589

1,558,170

1,323,545

123,704

151,49 1

123,704

151,491

1,681,874

1,475,036

377,245

442,734

Unspent Grant Funds

-

59,931

Grants Funds Received in Advance

-

613,718

120,284

(14,021)

497,529

1,102,362

223,971

241,000

42,948

17,029

Non-current

181,024

223,971

Closing Balance 30 June 2019

181,024

223,971

Note 22:
Provisions
Current
Employee Benefits

Land &
Property

Plant &
Equipment

Motor
Vehicles

Work in
Progress

Clinical
Software

Total

10,362,950

602,092

-

29,160

61,047

11,055,249

Additions

48,914

154,063

81,749

-

87,593

372,319

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

-

Asset Recognition

-

-

-

(29,160)

-

(29,160)

Work in Progress

-

-

-

14,460

-

14,460

(520,780)

(227,394)

(14,987)

-

(45,859)

(809,020)

9,891,084

528,761

66,762

14,460

102,781

10,603,848

Land &
Property

Plant &
Equipment

Motor
Vehicles

Work in
Progress

Clinical
Software

Total

Opening Net Book Amount

7,581,319

412,114

-

-

33,423

8,026,856

Additions

3,026,110

393,300

-

-

56,171

3,475,581

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

-

Work In Progress

-

-

-

29,160

-

29,160

(244,479)

(203,322)

-

-

(28,547)

(476,348)

10,362,950

602,092

-

29,160

61,047

11,055,249

Note 24:
Loan Payable Terms and Repayment Schedule
as at 30 June 2019

2018

Current

Opening Net Book Amount

Depreciation
Closing Book Amount

Year Ended 30 June 2018

Depreciation
Closing Book Amount

4. FINANCIAL REPORTS

A Land Revaluation was conducted on
27 February 2017 by an Independent Valuer Colliers International. 32 and 36 Knuckey Street
were revalued with no change in value to 36
Knuckey and a decrease in value of $450,000
for 32 Knuckey Street. Land assets are valued at

2019

Note 20:
Accrued Expenses
Accrued Employee Benefits and On-costs
Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses are expected to be settled within 12 months.

160,099

127,814

29,800

29,800

189,899

157,614

Annual Leave
Long Service Leave
Non-Current
Employee Benefits
Long Service Leave
Total Provisions

Note 23:
Other Liabilities
Tax Payable

Employee Liabilities

Opening Balance 1 July 2018

The loan is secured against the Fit-Out Works completed. This loan is repayable in instalments
over 5 years. Interest is charged on the principal sum at a rate of 7% nominal interest per annum
(interest paid 2019: $6,832) compounding monthly until the expiry date of the lease or the date
on which the principal and all interest is paid in full.

Note 21:
Contingencies

There are no contingent liabilities or assets in the current year.
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2018

Note 25:
Operating Leases
Vehicle Operating Leases

4. FINANCIAL REPORTS

2019

Note 27:
Financial Risk Management
The main risks the Corporation is exposed to
through its financial instruments are liquidity risk,
credit risk, market risk, interest rate risk, and
concentration of credit risk.

Payable Within 12 Months

242,078

332,868

Payable 12 Months – 5 Years

210,171

423,812

Liquidity Risk

452,249

756,680

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will
not be able to meet its obligations as and when
they fall due. The Corporation manages its liquidity
risk by monitoring cash flows and also through its
budget management process. Due to the nature of
its business, the Corporation is able to estimate its
income and expected expenditure on a seasonal
basis based on grant funding release timeframes.

The motor vehicle lease commitments are non-cancellable operating leases contracted for with a
two or three year term. No capital commitments exist with regards to the lease commitments at
year end. The lease payments are constant throughout the term of the lease.

Premises Operating Lease
Payable Within 12 Months

1,165,668

1,276,793

Credit Risk

Payable 12 Months – 5 Years

3,294,015

3,108,600

4,459,683

4,385,393

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the
Corporation if a customer or counterparty to a
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations. Exposure to credit risk is monitored by
management on an ongoing basis. The maximum
exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of
any collateral or other security, is limited to the
total carrying value of financial assets, net of any
provisions for impairment of those assets, as
disclosed in the balance and notes to the financial
statements.

Premises lease commitments are non-cancellable leases contracted for between three year and ten
year terms in general. No capital commitments exist with regards to the lease commitments at year
end. Lease payments are constant throughout the term of the lease.

Note 26:
Reconciliation of Operating Result
to Net Cash Inflow From Operating Activities
Operating Result

(86,960)

699,991

Depreciation and Impairment

809,020

476,348

Assets Written Off

-

-

Gain on Disposal of Assets

-

-

722,060

1,176,339

(39,245)

528,815

(Increase)/Decrease In other Current Assets

86,634

(92,953)

Increase/(Decrease) In Unexpended Grants

(673,649)

(549,628)

403

573,254

206,838

249,175

25,867

37,509

(393,151)

746,172

328,909

1,922,511

Total

Changes in Assets and Liabilities
(Increase)/Decrease In Trade and other Receivables

Increase/(Decrease) In Trade and other Payables, including accruals
Increase/(Decrease) In Employee Provisions
Increase/(Decrease) In Other Liabilities
Total Change in Assets and Liabilities
Net Cash Generated From/(used) in Operating Activities
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The main source of credit risk to the Entity
is considered to relate to the class of assets
described as “accounts receivable and other
debtors”.

Financial Assets are monitored regularly with zero
financial assets past due nor impaired at balance
date. Further there have been no credit terms
renegotiated. Management have established
business continuity plans, policies and procedures
to mitigate operational banking risks
Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market
prices, such as interest rates and equity prices
will affect the Corporation’s income or the value
of its holding of financial instruments. Exposure to
market risk is closely monitored by management
and carried out within guidelines set by the Board.
The Corporation does not have any material
market risk exposure.
Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in interest rates.
The Corporation manages its interest rate risk by
maintaining floating rate cash and fixed rate debt.
Sensitivity Analysis
At balance date, the Corporation had the following
assets exposed to variable interest rate risk:
2019

2018

$

$

Cash At Bank

326,418

273,179

Total Financial Assets

326,418

273,179

Financial Assets

The Entity writes off an accounts receivable when
there is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery (eg when the debtor has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings) or when the trade
receivables are over two years past due, whichever
occurs earlier. None of the accounts receivable
that have been written off are subject to
enforcement activities.

There are no financial liabilities exposed to variable
interest rate risk.
The table below details the interest rate sensitivity
analysis of the Corporation at balance date,
holding all variables constant. A 100 basis point
change is deemed to be a possible change and
is used when reporting interest rate risk.

Effect on P&L

Effect on Equity

Effect on P&L

Effect on Equity

2019
$

2019
$

2018
$

2018
$

Base Points

+ 1%

3,264

3,264

2,732

2,732

Base Points

- 1%

(3,264)

(3,264)

(2,732)

(2,732)
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Note 28:
Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Within
1 year

1–5
years

Over
5 years

Total
Carrying

$

$

$

$

Cash and Cash Equivalents

328,118

-

-

328,118

Trade and other Receivables

302,150

-

-

302,150

73,978

-

-

73,978

704,246

-

-

704,246

30 June 2019
Financial Assets –
Cash Flow Realisable

Other Current Assets
Total
Financial Liabilities
Due for Payment
Accrued Expenses

160,099

-

-

160,099

Trade and other Payables

861,008

-

-

861,008

-

-

-

-

Loan

57,265

147,935

-

205,200

Total

1,078,372

147,935

-

1,226,307

Within
1 year

1–5
years

Over
5 years

Total
Carrying

$

$

$

$

Cash and Cash Equivalents

275,079

-

-

275,079

Trade and other Receivables

262,905

-

-

262,905

Other Current Assets

160,611

-

-

160,611

Total

698,595

-

-

698,595

Accrued Expenses

127,814

-

-

127,814

Trade and other Payables

892,890

-

-

892,890

-

-

-

-

Loan

57,265

205,200

-

262,465

Total

1,077,169

205,200

-

1,283,169

Other Liabilities

30 June 2018
Financial Assets –
Cash Flow Realisable

Financial Liabilities
Due for Payment

Other Liabilities

Fair Value

Recognised financial instruments

The carrying amount of assets and liabilities is
equal to their net fair value. The following methods
and assumptions have been applied:

Cash, cash equivalents and interest bearing
deposits: The carrying amount approximates fair
value because of their short-term to maturity.
Receivables and Creditors: the carrying amount
approximates fair value due to their short term
to maturity.
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The following assets are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis using the market approach
method after initial recognition:
-freehold land
No liabilities are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis or any assets or liabilities at fair
value on a non-recurring basis.

i. Fair Value Hierarchy
AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the
disclosure of fair value information by level of the
fair value hierarchy, which categorises fair value
measurements into one of three possible levels
based on the lowest level that an input that is
significant to the measurement can be categorised
into as follows:
Level 1
Measurements based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date.
Level 2
Measurements based on inputs other than quoted
prices included in Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3
Measurements based on unobservable inputs
for the asset or liability.
The fair values of assets and liabilities that are
not traded in an active market are determined
using one or more valuation techniques. These
valuation techniques maximise, to the extent
possible, the use of observable market data. If all
significant inputs required to measure fair value are
observable, the asset or liability is included in level
2. If one or more significant inputs are not based
on observable market data, the asset or liability is
included in level 3.

4. FINANCIAL REPORTS

The table below reflects the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for the financial
instruments of a fixed period of maturity, as well as management’s expectations
of the settlement period for all financial instruments.

ii. Valuation Techniques
A valuation technique that is appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data is
available to measure fair value. The availability of
sufficient and relevant data primarily depends on
the specific characteristics of the asset or liability
being measured. The valuation techniques selected
are consistent with one or more of the following
valuation approaches:
- Market Approach: valuation techniques that use
prices and other relevant information generated
by market transactions for identical or similar
assets or liabilities
- Income Approach: valuation techniques that
convert estimated future cash flows or income
and expenses into a discounted present value
- Cost Approach: valuation techniques that reflect
the current replacement costs of an asset at its
current service capacity
Each valuation technique requires inputs that
reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers
would use when pricing the asset or liability,
including assumptions about risks. When selecting
a valuation technique, priority is given to those
techniques that maximise the use of observable
inputs and minimise the use of unobservable
inputs. Inputs that are developed using market
data (such as publicly available information on
actual transactions) and reflect the assumptions
that buyers and sellers would generally use
when pricing the asset or liability are considered
observable, whereas inputs for which market
data is not available and therefore are developed
using the best information available about such
assumptions are considered unobservable.
The Corporation has adopted the market approach
which determines the appraisal value of an asset
based on the selling price of similar items using
direct comparison, analysed on a rate per square
metre of site area. Management acknowledge and
support the requirement for the selected Valuer to
remain independent from the Corporation.
The following table provides the fair values of the
company’s assets measured and recognised as
a recurring basis after initial recognition and their
categorisation within the fair value hierarchy:
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Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

32 Knuckey St

-

3,050,000

-

3,050,000

36 Knuckey St

-

2,100,000

-

2,100,000

Total at Fair Value

-

5,150,000

-

5,150,000

Note 33:
Auditors’ Remuneration
2019

2018

29,800

29,800

-

-

29,800

29,800

2019

2018

12,304,262

12,922,270

Department of Social Services

322,720

284,820

Dept. Children and Families

727,651

687,651

Northern Territory Government

1,775,9 27

1,265,9 14

Dept. Prime Minister & Cabinet

615,618

894,424

Amounts Received or Due and Receivable by
the auditors of Danila Dilba Health Service

The fair value measurement amounts of freehold land include office buildings in
Darwin in close proximity to the CBD.

Audit or Review Service

Note 29:
Key Management Personnel Compensation

Total

Other Services

Note 34:
Statement of Funding Sources

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key
management personnel is set out below.
2019

2018

1,557,564

1,429,503

-

9,659

1,557,564

1,439,162

Key Management Personnel Compensation
Short Term Employee Benefits
Post-Employment Benefits
Total

4. FINANCIAL REPORTS

Freehold Land

Department of Health

Note 30:
Related Parties

Northern Territory General Practice Education Ltd

1,633,792

1,361,497

Primary Health Network Northern Territory Ltd.

2,720,044

2,383,987

During the financial year ended 30 June 2019,
no loans or other related party transactions were
made to any Board member or key management
personnel. In 2018/19, no Board members were
paid sitting fees (2017/18: $nil). No sitting fees
were paid from grant funds.

Other Grants

111,655

146,272

5,432,749

4,805,121

4,395

11,178

Reimbursements

109,475

242,101

Sundry Income

513,196

529,163

26,271,484

25,534,398

Note 31:
Economic Dependency

Medicare
Bank Interest

The management of grant funded projects
by Danila Dilba Health Service is dependent
on continued funding from the Commonwealth
and Northern Territory Governments.

Note 32:
Events Occurring after
Balance Sheet Date
The directors are not aware of any significant
events since the end of the reporting period.
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4. FINANCIAL REPORTS

Directors Declaration

Note 35:
Statement of Unspent Grants Received during the Year
2019

2018

Australian Nurse Family Partnership

-

-

Capital Funding Palmerston Clinic

-

-

Capital Funding Darwin Clinic

-

-

Indigenous Sexual Health

-

573,718

a. compliance with the accounting standards; and

-

573,718

b. providing a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of
the Corporation and the Consolidated group; and

General Practice Education

-

-

2. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Corporation will be able
to pay its debts when they become due and payable.

Mobile Clinic

-

-

Primary Health Network SEWB

-

-

Primary Health Network Choosing Wisely

-

20,890

Territory Families Safe, Respected and
Free Violence Prevention

-

40,000

-

60,890

Alcohol and Other Drugs

-

-

Emotional and Social Wellbeing

-

-

NAIDOC Palmerston

-

29,972

-

29,972

Dept. of Health

Northern Territory Government

The members of the Board of Danila Dilba Biluru Butji Binnilutlum Health
Service Aboriginal Corporation, hereby state that in their opinion:
1. the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the
Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Regulations 2007
(CATSI Regulations), including:

Made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 25 October 2019.

Prime Minister and Cabinet

Chairperson

South Australian Health and Medical
Research Institute Ltd
SAHMRI Goanna Survey

Gross Total of Unspent Project Funds

Mrs Carol Stanislaus

-

9,069

-

9,069

-

673,649

Shannon Daly

Deputy Chairperson

Unspent Grants received during the year vary from Unexpended Grants shown as a liability in the
Statement of Financial Position depending on whether the grant is ‘Reciprocal’ and whether a present
obligation to repay the funds exists at balance date.

page 108 Danila Dilba Health Service ANNUAL REPORT 2018–2019

Danila Dilba Health Service ANNUAL REPORT 2018–2019 page 109

Abbreviations

Danila Dilba Health Service

ACCHO

Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation

Regular clients

AHIW

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare

AHP

Aboriginal Health Practitioner

AHPRA

Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency

AHRI

Australian Human Resources Institute

AH&MRC

Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council of New South Wales

AMSANT

Aboriginal Medical Alliance Northern Territory

AMSED

Aboriginal Medical Services Education

ANFPP

Australian Nurse Family Partnership Program

AOD

Alcohol and Other Drugs

APO NT

Aboriginal Peak Organisations Northern Territory

ARMC

Audit and Risk Management Committee

ARF

Acute Rheumatic Fever

CAAPS

Council for Aboriginal Alcohol Program Services

CBA

Cost Benefit Analysis

CBT

Cognitive Behavioural Therapy

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

CQI

Continuous Quality Improvement

CPHR

Certified Practitioner of Human Resources

CS&QC

Clinical Safety and Quality Committee

CTG

Closing the Gap

DDHS

Danila Dilba Health Service

FASD

Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder

FORWAARD

Foundation of Rehabilitation with Aboriginal Alcohol Related Difficulties

GPs
IAMS

Northern
suburbs

Northeastern
suburbs

16%

19%

AIRPORT

Palmerston
and surrounds

29%

Darwin city

7%

Fannie Bay
to Berrimah

19%

Rural areas

4%

Rest of NT

5

%

Outside
of NT

1%

GPO Box 2125, Darwin NT 0801

Malak Clinic

info@ddhs.org.au
www.ddhs.org.au

3/1 Malak Place, Malak
(08) 8942 5400

General Practitioners

Corporate Services

Men’s Clinic

Illawarra Aboriginal Medical Service

Level 2, 28 Knuckey St, Darwin
(08) 8942 5400

Suite 3, 9 Keith Lane, Fannie Bay
(08) 8942 5400
Gumileybirra Women’s
Health Service

IPAC	Integrating Pharmacists within Aboriginal Community Controlled
Health Services to Improve Chronic Disease Management study
KWHB

Katherine West Health Board

Community Services

KPIs

Key Performance Indicators

NAAFLS

North Australia Aboriginal Family Legal Service

Level 1, 28 Knuckey St, Darwin
(08) 8942 5400

NAAJA

North Australian Aboriginal Justice Agency

NACCHO

National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation

NTLAC

Northern Territory Legal Aid Commission

NTSGAC

Northern Territory Stolen Generations Aboriginal Corporation

133 Bagot Rd, Ludmilla
(08) 8942 5400

OATSIH

Office of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health

Darwin Clinic

PHC

Primary Health Care

RHD

Rheumatic Heart Disease

SAHMRI

South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute

SEWB

Social and emotional wellbeing

TIS

Tackling Indigenous Smoking
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Bagot Community Clinic

32-34 Knuckey St, Darwin
(08) 8942 5400

4/7 Rolyat St, Palmerston
(08) 8942 5400
Palmerston Health
1/7 Rolyat St, Palmerston
(08) 8942 5400
Rapid Creek Clinic
Rapid Creek Business Village,
Shop 35, 48 Trower Rd, Millner
(08) 8942 5400
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